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Forward Looking Statements

This Financial Report includes certain forward-looking 
statements that have been based on current expectations 
about future acts, events and circumstances. These  
forward-looking statements are, however, subject to risks, 
uncertainties and assumptions that could cause those acts, 
events and circumstances to differ materially from the 
expectations described in such forward-looking statements.

These factors include, among other things, commercial  
and other risks associated with the meeting of objectives  
and other investment considerations, as well as other matters 
not yet known to the Company or not currently considered 
material by the Company.

contents
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Expanded and consolidated exploration portfolio

Further expanded technical and commercial capabilities

Integrated international acquisitions

Invested over A$28 million in new seismic surveys

Acquired 3,752km2 3D seismic within permits and 666km2 3D seismic in adjacent permits

Regained 100% unencumbered interest in Tassie Shoal projects

Upgraded environmental approvals for Tassie Shoal LNG project

Received expressions of interest for 8.3 MTA methanol offtake

Prepared to drill first international well

MEO Australia is an ASX listed, independent oil and gas company focused on building  
a substantial Australian and international exploration and production business servicing  
the rapidly growing Asian energy markets.

The Company has assembled a portfolio of exploration, appraisal and development stage 
opportunities on the NW Shelf, the Ashmore Cartier and the Timor Sea regions in Australia, 
offshore North Sumatra, and on Madura Island, East Java in Indonesia and the Gulf of 
Thailand.

about the company

highlights for the year
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Expanded and 
consolidated 

A$28 million

exploration portfolio  

invested in seismic surveys
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chairman’s message

Your Company has grown considerably during the last 12 months 
in terms of asset breadth and staff capability. In late 2010 we held 
five Australian offshore exploration permits plus the Tassie Shoal 
projects. Today, our exploration portfolio extends to ten high-equity 
permits including interests in Indonesia and Thailand. We have 
early stage exploration ventures and also have discovered resources 
in some of our acreage. Our Timor Sea commercialisation efforts 
took a step forward when discussions with leading industrial 
buyers revealed keen regional demand for Tassie Shoal methanol. 
As the business portfolio has grown, we have carefully built up  
the capability of our technical and commercial staff in Melbourne 
and Jakarta.

In building the expanded business portfolio over the past 18 
months, our New Ventures team has applied thoughtful discipline 
to the analysis of over 100 investment opportunities. We have 
drawn on their experience, skills and regional knowledge to 
identify those opportunities that meet our risk/reward objectives. 
The quest for additional high quality projects continues.

The past year has involved the planning, contracting and 
acquisition of a huge amount of seismic data. Over 4,400km2  
of 3D seismic data and 170km of 2D seismic data was acquired  
at a cost of over A$28 million to MEO in programs covering nine 
of the 10 permits under tenure. It is gratifying to see that the 
overall cost of the seismic acquisition was carried out on schedule 
and below our budgeted costs. This was achieved by our Technical 
team managing approximately $25 million of these costs by 
opportunistically taking advantage of the availability of seismic 
vessels and drawing on multi-client surveys where practical.  
Based on the seismic results, we will be seeking to farm-out 
interests in several permits to support future drilling plans.

Following a review of existing seismic data over the newly  
acquired WA-454-P permit in the Petrel sub-basin, we appointed 
an independent consultant who confirmed our assessment of 
discovered resources and the potential for significant oil and gas  
in the permit. Having seen this upside potential, we took the 
decision to accelerate our permit commitments and acquire a  
new 3D seismic survey over the Marina discovery as well as the 
Breakwater prospect and some other leads. Initial interpretation  
of the new seismic data has confirmed a robust structure at Marina 
and a clear image of the larger Breakwater prospect. We will now 
complete the seismic interpretation ahead of seeking a farm-in 
partner to help fund drilling.

We acquired the Vulcan sub-basin permits AC/P50, 51 and 53, 
because our experience elsewhere suggested that a particular  
style of hydrocarbon trap may have been formed in this geological 
setting. The recently available Zeppelin 3D seismic survey supports 
that thesis and reveals some quite interesting features which will 
now receive careful follow-up to see if they merit drilling.

The level of business development activity involving the Tassie 
Shoal projects has been increased. The commercial structure  
of the methanol project was simplified to give MEO 100 per cent 
unencumbered rights to the methanol project, part of which  
we can offer directly to new investors. The Commonwealth 
Government awarded an upgraded environmental permit for  
the associated Tassie Shoal LNG project as well as a renewal  
of major project facilitation status. 

To help build awareness of the potential value of the Tassie Shoal 
projects, we called for expressions of interest from a number of 
major methanol buyers to assess the level of methanol demand  
in our region. The buyers we have worked with expressed a 
cumulative demand of more than twice the nameplate capacity  
of two methanol plants. We intend to build on this interest  
and develop binding forms of collaboration.

As we entered this new financial year, MEO was anticipating 
involvement in at least three important exploration wells. As 
operator, Eni has been active with our NT/P68 Timor Sea permit 
where they will earn 50 per cent of the Heron gas discovery if  
they drill two wells at their full cost. During the year Eni contracted 
the ENSCO 109 rig for drilling. In addition, Eni conducted a major 
seismic survey to the east of the Blackwood gas discovery and  
have until early January 2013 to determine whether to drill an 
appraisal well at Blackwood to earn 50 per cent of that discovery. 

In Indonesia, MEO’s subsidiary Seruway Offshore Exploration 
Limited (SOEL) successfully completed an extensive 3D seismic 
survey which has identified a large number of new prospects  
as well as providing greater information about the oil and gas 
discoveries already made on the block. In parallel, thorough 
planning has been conducted to enable the drilling of a well  
on the Gurame oil and gas discovery in late 2012.

Towards the end of 2012, MEO will fund its participating interest 
plus a modest premium of a well in the G2/48 concession in the 
Gulf of Thailand to earn its 50 per cent participating interest. 
Although relatively low cost, this well is in a basin in which a 
working hydrocarbon system has not yet been conclusively 
established, so it comes with significant geological risk.

Nicholas M Heath B.Eng (Chem) (Hons)

Chairman
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Shareholders will be well aware that conventional oil and gas 
exploration companies have not been well supported by the 
investment community. A concerted investor relations program 
was conducted over the past year seeking to raise the profile of 
our Company with domestic and international investors. In parallel, 
MEO upgraded its US ADR program to the OTCQX platform which 
facilitates real time electronic trading in North America in their 
local currency. We hope this preparation will ensure strong support 
for MEO in the event of further success with our projects.

The view of your Board is that MEO has been thoughtfully grown 
and diversified and is now operating with a prudent strategy for 
growth. The projects in hand have considerable upside potential 
and over coming months several important exploration wells are  
to be drilled. Our intention is to keep adding attractive low cost, 
high equity, high potential growth options to the portfolio. 
Following the identification of any attractive drilling prospects,  
we will endeavour to harvest a much increased value via  
farm-out, partial divestment or drilling on our own account.

Once again, on behalf of the Board, I would like to thank 
shareholders for their continued support of MEO during a time  
of very difficult market conditions. Most importantly, I would like 

to commend Jürgen Hendrich and his executive team for the 
enthusiasm and professionalism which they have continued  
to display during a very busy year. Our industry is one which  
involves very complex technical and commercial judgements  
and considerable operational and financial risk, all of which  
we endeavour to manage. What we all look forward to  
in the years ahead is some favourable geology.

Nicholas Heath
Chairman

chairman’s message continued
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The last 12 months has been a period of tremendous growth  
for our Company during a time of extreme business uncertainty.  
Our expansion into South East Asia during 2011 challenged us  
to assimilate and integrate an Indonesian business into the MEO 
culture, build our capabilities to enable us to become an international 
operator and manage a significantly larger South East Asian acreage 
portfolio. We managed to attract additional high quality personnel 
to tackle these challenges. I am extremely proud of the calibre of the 
technical, commercial and executive teams now in place at MEO.

Following the expansion of the portfolio during late 2010 to mid 
2011, a significant investment was made in acquiring high quality 
seismic data over nearly every permit in the portfolio. This 
investment will provide the basis for the technical team to identify 
and quantify the potential within our acreage that will underpin  
the next tranche of attractive drilling opportunities to be offered  
to industry participants via farm-out in the coming year. 

The Company continued to evolve to a business model that seeks  
to leverage the balance sheet of financially stronger industry 
partners to fund drilling. This model has challenged the organisation 
to continue to find and secure opportunities with high available 
equity at an affordable entry price and that offer scope for significant 
technical value to be added prior to farm-out. The process of 
farming out is designed to recover our invested capital while 
retaining a substantial residual interest to provide shareholders  
with leverage to drilling success.

Our entry into the Gulf of Thailand represents a slight deviation  
from this business model. Drilling costs in this region are modest  
in comparison with other jurisdictions in which we are operating in. 
We can therefore take on the geological risk of drilling without the 
significant cost exposure usually associated with offshore wells. By 
securing meaningful equity participation at an early stage, we retain 
the option to sell down at a later stage after value has been added 
to recover our invested capital and potentially carry future funding 
obligations.

To capture significant upside for shareholders involves MEO  
taking on upfront risk. Rest assured that every decision to do  
so is rigorously evaluated by the technical and commercial teams  
ahead of bringing any recommendation to the Board of Directors  
for consideration.

Our business strategy involves providing shareholders with a portfolio 
containing multiple catalysts for a significant uplift in the value of the 
Company. The portfolio approach is a risk-mitigation strategy against 
individual binary outcomes with which your Board of Directors and 
the executive management team is all too familiar with. 

Increasing optionality by building a portfolio of opportunities is one 
of a number of strategies employed in an effort to raise the odds  
in favour of success.

An active drilling program featuring at least three wells commenced 
in August with Eni spudding Heron South-1 in NT/P68. MEO is being 
fully carried through the costs of this well which is targeting several 
Tcf of gas in the objective reservoirs. We secured a rig to drill a well 
on the Gurame oil and gas discovery offshore North Sumatra and 
will be drilling in September/October. Mubadala Petroleum has 
secured a rig to drill a number of wells including a commitment  
well in the Gulf of Thailand G2/48 concession. Drilling is currently 
expected to take place during November. 

Notwithstanding a significant farm-out effort, MEO will retain 100 
per cent of the Seruway PSC and will therefore bear 100 per cent  
of the drilling costs associated with Gurame SE-1X estimated at 
US$25 million (untested). Industry participants by and large 
preferred the prospects on the Ibu Horst over which we acquired  
the new 3D seismic but which was not drill-ready ahead of securing 
a drilling rig. We expect that a future farm-out (planned for early 
2013) featuring the Ibu Horst prospects will generate a more 
commercial response from industry.

At the time of aquiring the Seruway PSC we recognised the 
potential need to fund the commitment well and had factored  
this into the purchase price. In addition, we selected the lowest  
risk target that we could drill with the rig we had identified as 
available and subsequently secured. Nonetheless, our preferred 
modus operandi is to farm-out or seek alternative ways to cover 
such drilling cost exposure.

During the last year, we increased the intensity of our efforts  
to monetise the Tassie Shoal projects. Firstly, we terminated  
the agreements with Air Products to regain a 100 per cent 
unencumbered interest in the Tassie Shoal Methanol Project. 
Secondly, we appointed a dedicated manager to engage with 
prospective buyers and joint venture partners. This resulted in 
expressions of interest from buyers for methanol product that 
materially exceeds output capacity. Finally, the external environment 
in the vicinity of the planned projects has also evolved. Following our 
farm-out of a 50 per cent interest in NT/P68 to Eni, the latter also 
purchased a 40 per cent interest in the neighbouring Evans Shoal 
field for US$350 million in October 2011, while in June 2012,  
SK E&S is earning up to 49.5 per cent interest in the Barossa  
and Caldita fields for a total consideration of up to $520 million 
comprising carried work program and deferred payments.  
These transactions highlight the value of gas in the vicinity  
of our Tassie Shoal projects.

It would be remiss of me not to acknowledge the external 
environment and its potential impact on our business. Operating  
as a listed company in the conventional upstream energy business 
involving long lead times and substantial capital investment is 
somewhat incongruent with an investment climate where many 
investors seek short term returns. The harsh reality for a company 
like MEO is that ultimately, the only real metric for sustainable value 
creation is commercial success via the drill bit. While we would like 
to be drilling continuously to generate ongoing investor interest, this 
is not feasible. We can however continue to apply our substantial 
technical capability to screening and evaluating opportunities with  
a view to securing those where we feel we can add significant value.

managing director’s report

Jürgen Hendrich B.Sc (Geology) (Hons), PDM 

Chief Executive Officer and  
Managing Director

6
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It has been a while since our previous drilling campaign in late 2010. 
The year ahead offers patient shareholders multiple opportunities for 
significant value creation. These have been developed and matured 
through the efforts of a dedicated team of technical and commercial 
professionals and a loyal team of wonderful support staff. I thank 
them all collectively on behalf of shareholders and eagerly await  
the results of our drilling campaigns to see whether we can unearth 
and share in nature’s bounty.

Jürgen Hendrich
Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director

Regained 100%

Expanded 
technical and commercial 
capabilities

unencumbered interest in the Tassie Shoal 
Methanol Projects



MEO Australia Limited Annual Report 20128

meo project areas



MEO Australia Limited Annual Report 2012 9



10 MEO Australia Limited Annual Report 2012

directors’ report

The Directors of MEO Australia Limited 
(variously the ‘Company’, ‘MEO’ and 
‘MEO Australia’) submit their report  
for the financial year ended 30 June 
2012. MEO Australia is a company 
limited by shares, incorporated and 
domiciled in Australia.

Directors
The names and details of the Company’s 
Directors in office during the financial 
year and until the date of this report are 
as follows. The Directors were in office 
during the entire period unless 
otherwise stated.

Mr Heath is a chemical engineer with over 
30 years’ industry experience in Australian 
and international energy markets gained 
through senior management positions with 
ExxonMobil in Australia and overseas. He 
was a Director of ExxonMobil Australia Pty 
Ltd, the holding company for all of 
ExxonMobil’s Australian assets and had 
specific responsibility for the marketing  
of natural gas and natural gas liquids 
throughout Australia. Mr Heath served  
as Chairman of the Australian Petroleum 
Production and Exploration Association 
(APPEA) from 1997-1999. His depth of 
industry experience brings valuable 
expertise to the Board of MEO Australia. 
Mr Heath also serves as Chairman on the 
Board of ASX listed coal seam gas company 
– Metgasco Limited (ASX: MEL) and 
unlisted credit union – EECU Limited.

Mr Heath is Chairman of the Remuneration 
and Nomination Committee and was 
appointed to the Audit Committee  
on 17 May 2012. 

Mr Hendrich brings over 25 years’ 
experience as a petroleum geologist and 
investment banker to MEO Australia. His 
professional career began at Esso Australia 
as a petroleum geologist and progressed 
from technical roles to commercial roles 
including strategic planning, joint venture 
relations and business evaluation. His 
investment banking career began in 1996 
with JB Were (now Goldman Sachs & 
Partners Australia) where he became a top 
rated Energy Analyst prior to moving into 
funds management and eventually his own 
consulting practice specialising in providing 
strategic advice to emerging companies. 
In 2004 Jürgen joined Australian broking 
firm Tolhurst where he headed resources 
research and for two years prior to joining 
MEO he was Director, Corporate Finance.

Nicholas M Heath B.Eng (Chem) (Hons)

Chairman
Jürgen Hendrich B.Sc (Geology) (Hons), PDM 

Chief Executive Officer and 
Managing Director

Appointed Independent Non-Executive 
Director 12 May 2008 and appointed 
Chairman 13 November 2008

Appointed Chief Executive Officer  
16 June 2008 and appointed Managing 
Director 25 July 2008
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Mr Short retired from ExxonMobil in 2006 
after a 33 year career as a geologist. He  
has extensive international experience in 
predominantly managerial roles in Malaysia, 
Africa and North America and spent the 
last 15 years of his career in management 
assignments that included Exploration 
Manager for USA, Chad and Nigeria as  
well as serving seven years in Angola  
as Geoscience Director. Mr Short brings 
valuable experience in taking several 
start-up ventures from exploration through 
to development and production start-up to 
MEO Australia. Mr Short is a Non-Executive 
Director of Pryme Oil and Gas Limited  
(ASX: PYM) and Po Valley Energy Limited  
(ASX: PVE).

Mr Short is a member of the Audit 
Committee and was appointed to the 
Remuneration and Nomination Committee 
on 17 May 2012. 

Mr Hopley had a 14 year career with 
Macquarie Bank from 1989 until his 
retirement in 2003. For the last four years  
of his career, Mr Hopley acted as Division 
Director of the Financial Services Group 
with responsibility for Advisor Relationships 
and Distribution. Mr Hopley has served  
on a number of Boards, foundations, 
committees and not for profit 
organisations. He is a past Board member 
of the Education Foundation of Australia, 
the Lord Mayor’s Charitable Fund and is  
a past Securities Industry Education Chair 
of Task Forces in relation to final subjects  
in the Graduate Diploma in Financial 
Planning. He devotes part of his time  
as a business coach and mentor to a 
number of early stage enterprises.

Mr Hopley is Chairman of the Audit 
Committee and a member of the 
Remuneration and Nomination Committee.

Mr Sweeney practices as a Barrister at  
the Victorian Bar, Melbourne, specialising  
in the fields of energy and resources law, 
joint ventures and generally in commercial 
and contract law. He also specialises in 
alternative disputes resolution, particularly 
arbitration both as qualified arbitrator and 
as counsel in arbitrations. He is a nationally 
accredited mediator.

Mr Sweeney was the senior managing 
executive (prior to this, General Counsel 
and Company Secretary) of the Mitsubishi 
and Mitsui interests (MIMI) in the Australian 
North West Shelf (NWS) Gas Joint Venture 
from 1986-1996. He served as a member 
of the NWS Joint Venture Project 
Committee and was deputised to the Board 
of the North West Shelf LNG Shipping 
Company. He was a member of the Tokyo 
based Operating Committee responsible for 
overseeing MIMI’s investments in Australia. 

Mr Sweeney is a member of the 
Remuneration and Nomination  
Committee and Audit Committee.

Gregory A Short B.Sc (Geology) (Hons)

Independent Non-Executive Director
Stephen W Hopley PhC (Vic), DipFP (Deakin), 

GMQ (AGSM), MAICD

Independent Non-Executive Director

Michael J F Sweeney LLB, FIAMA, FCIArb, 

Chartered Arbitrator

Independent Non-Executive Director

Appointed 14 July 2008 Appointed 1 October 2008 Appointed 1 October 2008
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directors’ report continued

Interests in the Shares and Options of the Company 

As at the date of this report, the relevant beneficial and non-
beneficial interests of each of the Directors in the shares and  
share options in the Company were:

Ordinary 
Shares

27 October
2015 Options

Managing 
Director Options

N M Heath 1,233,079 900,000 -

S W Hopley 100,000 900,000 -

J Hendrich 1,261,000 - 3,000,000

G A Short 407,444 900,000 -

M J F Sweeney 206,130 900,000 -

The terms of the options are set out in Note 22 to the consolidated 
financial statements. Details, including fair value at date of grant  
of the options granted to Directors, are set out in the 
Remuneration Report.

Company Secretary
Mr Colin Naylor was appointed MEO Australia Limited Chief 
Financial Officer on 5 February 2007 and Company Secretary  
on 23 February 2007. Mr Naylor has previously worked in senior 
financial roles in major resource companies and is a Fellow  
of CPA Australia.

Dividends
No dividend has been paid, provided or recommended during  
the financial year and to the date of this report (2011: Nil).

Principal Activities
The principal activities during the year of the entities within the 
consolidated entity were the development of the Tassie Shoal 
Methanol Project, the Timor Sea LNG Project and oil and gas 
exploration in offshore Australia and South East Asia. 

The Company had 24 employees at 30 June 2012 including 
Directors (2011: 14). The Company also engages a number  
of full and part time consultants to assist in the development  
and management of its various activities.

Review of Operations

Environment, Health and Safety	

The Group believes that workplace injuries are avoidable. It has 
implemented policies and procedures to ensure employees and 
contractors conduct their activities in a safe manner. Directors 
specifically addressed health, safety and environment issues at each 
Board meeting. MEO has adopted an environmental, health and 
safety policy and conducts its operations in accordance with  
the Plastics and Chemicals Industries Association (PACIA) and 
Australian Petroleum Production & Exploration Association  
(APPEA) Codes of Practice. 



13MEO Australia Limited Annual Report 2012

The upstream activities by the Group of seismic surveys, well site 
surveys and drilling operations all require Commonwealth and/or 
State/Territory approvals of environment plans and safety cases to 
manage the conduct of the activities and the contractors engaged 
by the Group to undertake the work. 

There were no reported environmental incidents or Lost Time 
Injuries (LTI’s) during the year.

The Group’s development activities on Tassie Shoal are subject to 
environment conditions specified in the Offshore Petroleum and 
Greenhouse Gas Storage Act (2006), associated Regulations and 
Directions, as well as the Environment Protection and Biodiversity 
Conservation (EPBC) Act (1999). During the year there were no 
known contraventions of any relevant environmental regulations.

North West Shelf Exploration Permits,  
Carnarvon Basin, Western Australia

WA-360-P (MEO 62.5%)

In early 2012, WA-360-P was renewed for a further five year 
exploration period. Concurrent with this renewal, a mandatory  
50 per cent relinquishment left MEO with renewal of eight of the 
initial 15 graticular blocks. Petrobras and Moby Oil & Gas both 
elected to withdraw from the permit and their participating 
interests were redistributed between MEO and Cue in proportion  
to our participating interests.

The Joint Venture licensed the available Foxhound multi-client  
3D seismic data on permit to confirm the validity of the Maxwell 
prospect. This data provided sufficient encouragement that 
additional off-permit data was also licensed to provide full data 
coverage between the Maxwell prospect and the Wheatstone  
gas field.

WA-361-P (MEO 50%)

This permit was renewed for five years in early 2011. During the 
year, the Zeus multi-client 3D seismic survey was acquired over  
the permit. The joint venture has committed to licensing the data 
over a significant portion of the permit. At the time of writing,  
the 3D data was still in processing.

Bonaparte Basin

NT/P68 (MEO 50%)

Following the May 2011 farm-out transaction with Eni, the 
Bathurst 3D seismic survey was acquired over East Blackwood. 
Acquisition of this 3D survey represented an acceleration of the 
Blackwood farm-in option by Eni. Concurrent with the accelerated 
seismic acquisition program, Eni also secured a slot on the 
Ensco-109 jack-up drilling rig to drill the first of two Heron wells 
required to earn their 50 per cent participating interest. Drilling 
commenced on 24 August 2012. The election to drill a Blackwood 
well to complete the farm-in to the Blackwood discovery must be 
made by Eni by early January 2013. Timing of drilling will be a 
function of rig availability.

Vulcan Sub-Basin

AC/P50 and AC/P51 (MEO 100%)

MEO acquired AC/P50 and AC/P51 in late 2010 from Silver Wave 
Energy for US$270,000. These permits are located proximal to 
several small to modest sized oil discoveries hosted in Jurassic  
aged reservoirs and on trend with the Crux gas/condensate  

field in which liquids rich gas is hosted in deeper, Triassic aged 
reservoirs. An option granted to Silver-Wave Energy to reacquire a 
10 per cent interest in either or both permits expired unexercised 
during the year.

In early 2012, MEO acquired the Zeppelin 3D seismic survey 
covering a portion of both permits. Preliminary interpretation of 
the ‘fast-track’ quality control volume of this survey has yielded 
encouragement in the form of a material three way dip closed 
structural lead along with two smaller similar features along trend. 
Additional technical work is required to determine whether this 
early encouragement will translate into maturing one or more of 
these leads to drillable prospects. If so, one or both of the permits 
will be offered for farm-out in early 2013.

AC/P53 (MEO 100%)

This permit was officially awarded to MEO in early July 2011 and  
is contiguous with the existing AC/P50 and 51 permits. During the 
year, the Zeppelin 2D seismic survey was acquired in the permit 
including a tie-line to the Zeppelin 3D.

WA-454-P (MEO 100%)

MEO was awarded 100 per cent interest in WA-454-P in June 
2011. The permit contains the Marina gas and probable oil 
discovery drilled by ExxonMobil and Drillsearch in 2007. Following 
award of the permit, all available technical data was assimilated 
and analysed, leading MEO to conclude that Marina-1 intersected  
a probable oil leg within the uppermost of five hydrocarbon 
intervals. Two deeper zones also exhibited a similar liquids 
signature.

The Company engaged a global energy consulting firm, Senergy, 
to independently verify these findings and quantify the potential 
contingent resources at Marina. The contingent gas and oil 
resources calculated by Senergy at Marina, while modest at the 
‘most likely’ level, offer significant encouragement for follow up 
appraisal drilling to test the probable and possible oil legs. These 
findings also enhance the potential for significant oil legs to be 
present at the nearby Breakwater prospect.

These technical findings significantly upgrade the commercial 
potential of this permit, so much so, that MEO elected to bring 
forward the Permit Year 3, 3D seismic commitment into Permit  
Year 1. The Floyd 3D seismic survey was acquired in early 2012 
over the Marina discovery and Breakwater prospect. At the time  
of writing, the ‘fast-track’ volume of the data had been delivered 
for quality control and preliminary interpretation.

Indonesia

South Madura PSC (MEO 90%)

In June 2011, MEO acquired all of the shares in South Madura 
Exploration Company (SMEC) which holds a 30 per cent interest  
in the South Madura PSC, Madura Island. Following settlement  
of this transaction, AED Oil (60 per cent) applied for and was voted 
in as operator. Several weeks later, AED Oil went into voluntary 
administration and its 60 per cent interest in the PSC was 
subsequently sold as part of a suite of assets purchased by  
Subaru who then on sold the South Madura stake to SMEC. 

Regulatory approval for the transfer of interest and operatorship to 
SMEC was granted in June 2012. The preceding events precluded 
any significant work being undertaken in the PSC during the year. 
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Following receipt of regulatory approvals, SMEC is now working 
closely with the regulator to develop a forward program including 
compensation for time lost to these and other events preceding 
SMEC’s participation in the PSC.

Seruway PSC (MEO 100%)

In June 2011, MEO acquired all of the shares in Transworld 
Seruway Exploration Limited (TSEL), which holds a 100 per cent 
interest in the Seruway PSC, offshore North Sumatra, TSEL 
subsequently renamed Seruway Offshore Exploration Limited 
(SOEL).

A commitment well is required to be drilled prior to the end of 
calendar 2012. Given the tight timeframe to drill the commitment 
well, a location was chosen on the existing Gurame oil and gas 
discovery which already has 3D seismic coverage. A drilling rig 
capable of operating in 10 metre water depth was contracted  
to drill this well. 

In April 2012, a farm-out process was launched with a data  
room opened in the Jakarta office at the beginning of May. 
Notwithstanding a significant effort to farm-out an interest in the 
Production Sharing Contract, no acceptable offers were received 
and MEO will be funding 100% of the drilling.

The planned Gurame SE-1X well will test a structural closure  
up dip of recovered oil samples in both reservoirs and will also 
determine the capability of the assumed gas cap to produce gas  
at commercial flow rates. If commercial flow rates are established, 
a domestic gas market exists immediately onshore of the field.

Thailand

G2/48 Concession (MEO 50%)

In February 2012, MEO announced it had executed a binding 
agreement with Pearl Oil Offshore Limited to farm into the G2/48 
concession in the Gulf of Thailand. Consideration for the farm-in 
comprises MEO paying 50 per cent of the 3D seismic survey 
acquired in late 2011 and funding 66.6 per cent of the 2012 
commitment well up to a gross cap of US$5 million. Any costs 
above the cap would be incurred at the participating interest level. 
The concession is proximal to two oil discoveries – the producing 
Jasmine oil field to the south and the Manora oil discovery to the 
west which has recently been sanctioned for development. The 
commitment well is currently scheduled to be drilled during 
November 2012.

Tassie Shoal Gas Processing Projects

The Tassie Shoal projects comprise two stand-alone world scale 
1.75 Mta methanol projects and a single 3 Mta LNG plant. In the 
case of the methanol projects environmental approvals are valid 
until 2052. Major Project Facilitation Status was renewed by the 
Federal Government during the year.

Tassie Shoal Methanol Project (TSMP, MEO 100%)

The TSMP comprises two 1.75 Mta natural gas reforming and 
methanol production plants, each housed on its own concrete 
gravity structure (CGS). 

Each plant is a stand-alone project and once constructed and 
pre-commissioned, will be towed to Tassie Shoal and grounded  
for operation using sea water as ballast. Each plant requires 
approximately 1.3 Tcf of raw gas, ideally containing up to  
25 per cent CO2, to operate for 20 years.

During the year, MEO terminated the Joint Development 
Agreement (JDA) it had executed with Air Products in 2004  
and amended in 2006. The termination resulted in the Company 
regaining an unencumbered 100 per cent interest in the TSMP.  
This was considered necessary to provide the foundation required 
to reinvigorate discussions aimed at advancing the first stage  
of the project (TSMP1) towards commercial development. 

Timor Sea LNG Project (TSLNGP, MEO 100%)

The TSLNGP requires approximately 3 Tcf of clean, low CO2 (<4%) 
gas to operate for 20 years. Gas supply for the LNG plant could 
come from MEO’s own Heron gas discovery subject to confirmation 
of the resource by drilling or alternatively one or more of the 
neighbouring undeveloped gas fields. 

During the year, the TSLNGP had its environmental approval 
upgraded and the next review is scheduled in 2017.

Results for the year 

The net loss of the Group for the financial year, after provision  
for income tax, was $5,697,933 (2011: net profit after tax of 
$13,707,010). The 2011 net profit was mainly due to a gain  
on disposal of 50 per cent interest in WA-360-P ($29,611,847).

The successful drilling and commercialisation of any commercial oil 
and gas discoveries in offshore Australian exploration permits and 
overseas acreage and/or the development of the Group’s methanol 
and LNG projects could ultimately lead to the establishment of a 
profitable business. While the Group is in the exploration/appraisal 
stage of drilling for hydrocarbons in offshore Australian exploration 
permits and overseas acreage and in the project development 
phase, funding will be provided by equity capital raised from  
the issue of new shares and/or farm-out or joint development 
arrangements with other companies.

Review of Financial Condition

At balance date the Group held cash and cash equivalents of 
$55,331,011. During the year the Group decreased the cash 
balance by $36,276,316 (before foreign exchange fluctuations) 
with funds used to meet exploration, investment and capital cash 
outflows of $33,399,689 and net corporate costs of $7,929,668 
partly offset by interest received $4,177,798 and proceeds from 
sale of available for sale financial assets of $875,243. 

Share Issues

There were no share issues during the year.

Significant Changes in the State of Affairs
Total equity decreased to $205,621,844 from $209,936,130,  
a decrease of $4,314,286. The movement was mainly due to  
the net loss of $5,697,933. 

directors’ report continued
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Significant Events After the Balance Date
There has not arisen in the interval between the end of the 
financial year and the date of this report any item, transaction  
or event of a material and unusual nature likely, in the opinion of 
the Directors of the Company, to affect significantly the operations 
of the Group, the results of those operations, or state of affairs  
of the Group, in future financial years.

Likely Developments and Expected Results
During the 2012-2013 financial year, MEO will be participating in  
a minimum of three exploration wells. Concurrent with the drilling 
program, interpretation of the 2D and 3D seismic programs will be 
completed and the Company will initiate farm-outs depending on 
prospectivity. The Group continues to pursue new venture 
opportunities as appropriate. 

Share Options and Share Performance 
Rights

Options Granted to Directors and Executives  
of the Company

During the financial year 15,255,000 options were granted by the 
Company to employees and contractors. No further options have 
been granted since the end of the financial year.

Unissued Shares Under Options

At the date of this report unissued ordinary shares of the Company 
under option are:

Expiry Date Exercise Price Number of Shares

4 October 2015 $0.50 1,500,000

1 March 2016 $0.50  900,000

4 April 2016 $0.50 1,200,000

1 July 2016 $0.50  500,000

27 October 2015 $0.50 3,600,000

1 July 2016 $0.50 3,000,000

3 October 2016 $0.50 2,075,000

1 December 2016 $0.50 4,580,000

3 April 2017 $0.50 1,500,000

Total  18,855,000

All options expire on the earlier of their expiry date or termination 
of the employee’s employment. In addition, the ability to exercise 
the options is conditional on meeting the vesting conditions. These 
options do not entitle the holder to participate in any share issue 
of the Company. 

Shares Issued on the Exercise of Compensation 
Options 

During or since the end of the financial year, there has been  
no issue of ordinary shares as a result of the exercise of options  
(2011: nil).

Indemnification and Insurance of Directors
The Company paid a premium in respect of a contract insuring all 
Directors of the Company against legal costs incurred in defending 
proceedings as permitted by Section 199B of the Corporations Act 
2001. Disclosure of premium details is prohibited under the policy. 

Board and Committee Meetings
The following table sets out the members of the Board of Directors 
and the members of the Committees of the Board, the number of 
meetings of the Board and of the Committees held during the year 
and the number of meetings attended during each Director’s 
period of office.

Board of  
Directors

Audit  
Committee

Remuneration  
and 

Nomination 
Committee

A B A B A B

N M Heath 10 10 41 4 4 4

J Hendrich 10 10 - - - -

S W Hopley 10 10 4 4 4 4

G A Short 10 10 4 4 41 4

M J F Sweeney 9 10 4 4 4 4
						    
A – 	Number of meetings attended.

B – 	Number of meetings held during the time the Director held office 	
	 during the year.

1.	 Directors have attended meetings prior to formal appointment.

In addition to the formally constituted Board of Directors meetings  
set out above, Directors held a risk management workshop with  
the executive team.

Auditor independence and Non-audit 
Services
The Directors have received the independence declaration  
from the auditor, Ernst & Young, set out on page 16.

Non Audit Services

The following non-audit services were provided by the entity’s 
auditor, Ernst & Young. The Directors are satisfied that the 
provision of non-audit services is compatible with the general 
standard of independence for auditors imposed by the 
Corporations Act 2001. The nature and scope of each type  
of non audit service provided means that auditor independence 
was not compromised.

Ernst & Young received or is due to receive the following amounts 
for the provision of non-audit services:

 $

Agreed Upon Procedures for ‘Non-Income Tax 
Review’ and ‘Contractor to Payment Process’ 
for offshore subsidiary company by overseas 
Ernst & Young firm 21,318
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This Remuneration Report for the year ended 30 June 2012 outlines the remuneration arrangements of the Company in accordance  
with the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and its regulations. 

The information provided in this Remuneration Report has been audited as required by Section 308 (3C) of the Corporations Act.  
This Remuneration Report forms part of the Directors’ Report. 

The Remuneration Report details the remuneration arrangements for Key Management Personnel (KMP) who are defined as those persons 
having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the major activities of the Company and the Group, directly and 
indirectly, including any Director (whether executive or otherwise) of the Parent Company. 

The Remuneration Report is presented under the following sections:

1. Key Management Personnel (KMP) disclosures for FY2012

2. Remuneration Strategy and Board Oversight of Remuneration

3. Non-Executive Director Remuneration Arrangements

4. Executive Remuneration Arrangements

5. Remuneration Outcomes for FY2012 

6. Company Performance 

1. Key Management Personnel (KMP) for FY2012
The names and positions of the KMP during the 2012 financial year (FY2012) and up to the date of this Remuneration Report  
are listed below.

(i) Directors 

N M Heath	 Chairman (Independent Non-Executive)	
J Hendrich 	 Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer 
G A Short 	 Director (Independent Non-Executive) 
S W Hopley 	 Director (Independent Non-Executive) 
M J F Sweeney 	 Director (Independent Non-Executive) 

(ii) Executives

C H Naylor	 Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary
R J D Gard	 Commercial Manager 
R Zammit		 Executive Manager Business Development – appointed 1 December 2011

(iii) Consultants Holding Key Management Positions

K Hendrick 	 Implementation Manager 	
D Maughan	 Exploration Manager

2. Remuneration Strategy and Board Oversight of Remuneration

Remuneration and Nomination Committee

The Remuneration and Nomination Committee of the Board of Directors of the Company is responsible for determining and reviewing 
compensation arrangements for the Directors, including the Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer and making recommendations  
to the Board.

It is important that the Board maintains independence from management when making decisions affecting executive remuneration, 
particularly in respect of the Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer. Accordingly, the Company’s Remuneration and Nomination 
Committee is comprised solely of Non-Executive Directors and has an independent Chair. The Committee can have access to external  
advisors on a ‘case by case’ basis.

The Remuneration and Nomination Committee assesses the appropriateness of the nature and amount of remuneration on a periodic  
basis by reference to relevant employment market conditions with the overall objective of ensuring maximum stakeholder benefit from  
the retention of high quality Directors and the Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer.

Further details regarding the role, responsibilities and composition of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee are set out 
in the Corporate Governance Statement of the Annual Report.

remuneration report



MEO Australia Limited Annual Report 201218

remuneration report continued

2. Remuneration Strategy and Board Oversight of Remuneration continued

Remuneration Approval Process

The Board approves the remuneration arrangements of the Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer and awards under short term  
and long term incentive arrangements following recommendations from the Remuneration and Nomination Committee. The Board also  
sets the remuneration of Non-Executive Directors which is within the aggregate amount approved by shareholders.

The Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer approves the annual extension of consultants’ contracts and their consulting fees  
and will make recommendations to the Remuneration and Nomination Committee for granting of awards to executives and contractors 
under the short term and long term incentive arrangements. 

Remuneration Consultants and External Advisors

With effect from 1 July 2011, the Corporations Act sets out a detailed regime in relation to the engagement of external remuneration 
consultants to ensure that remuneration consultants are free from undue influence by any member of the KMP to whom a ‘remuneration 
recommendation’ relates, and requires that certain information be disclosed in the Remuneration Report where a remuneration 
recommendation has been provided. During the reporting period, the Company did not receive a ‘remuneration recommendation’ in relation  
to the quantum or elements of the remuneration packages of the Company’s KMP within the meaning of the Corporations Act, and 
accordingly no further disclosure is required. 

Remuneration Strategy

The performance of the Company depends upon the quality of its Directors and executives. To prosper, the Company must attract, motivate 
and retain highly skilled Directors and executives.

To this end, the Company embodies the following principles in its remuneration framework:

	offer competitive remuneration benchmarked against the external market to attract high calibre executives; •	

	where appropriate, provide executive rewards linked to shareholder value; and•	

	encourage Non-Executive Directors to hold shares in the Company through a Share Savings Plan. •	

Remuneration Structure

In accordance with best practice corporate governance, the structure of Non-Executive Director remuneration and executive remuneration  
is separate and distinct. Further details regarding the structure of Non-Executive Director remuneration and executive remuneration  
(including the Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer) is set out in sections 3 and 4.

3. Non-Executive Director Remuneration Arrangements 

Remuneration Policy and Structure

The Board seeks to set remuneration at a level which provides the Company with the ability to attract and retain Directors of high calibre,  
at a cost which is acceptable to shareholders.

The amount of aggregate remuneration approved by shareholders and the fee structure is reviewed annually by the Remuneration and 
Nomination Committee against fees paid to Non-Executive Directors of comparable companies. The Remuneration and Nomination 
Committee receives independent remuneration reports when undertaking this annual review process.

Each Director has entered into an agreement as to the terms of their appointment as a Director of the Company and (other than the 
Managing Director) receives remuneration as a Director, by way of a fee plus superannuation. Under such agreements current at the date  
of this report, there are no annual, long service leave, other termination entitlements or retirement benefits other than statutory 
superannuation. 

The Constitution and ASX Listing Rules specify that the aggregate remuneration of Non-Executive Directors shall be determined from time  
to time by members in general meeting. An amount not exceeding the amount determined is then divided between the Directors as agreed. 
At the Annual General Meeting held on 18 November 2010 shareholders approved an increase in the aggregate annual remuneration to 
$500,000 per year, with effect from the financial year commencing 1 July 2010 (previously $300,000).

Non-Executive Directors are encouraged by the Board to hold shares in the Company. The Company facilitates this through the Directors’ 
Share Savings Plan. Under the plan, Non-Executive Directors are eligible to take up to 100 per cent of their Director fees in the form of 
shares in the Company. The shares are purchased on market at the prevailing market share price. 

Non-Executive Directors have also been granted options under the Company’s Long Term Incentive (LTI Plan), as approved by shareholders  
at the 2011 Annual General Meeting, to further align their interests as Directors with those of shareholders.  
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Further details are provided in section 5 on page 22. Directors may consider the granting of options or performance rights in the future, 
subject to shareholder approval at a general meeting.

No additional remuneration is paid to Directors for service on board committees or on the boards of wholly owned subsidiaries.

In addition, the Directors are entitled to be paid all travelling and other expenses they incur in attending to the Company’s affairs,  
including attending and returning from general meetings of the Company or meetings of the Directors or of committees of the Directors.

The remuneration of Non-Executive Directors for the year ended 30 June 2012 and 30 June 2011 is detailed in Table 1 and Table 2  
of this report.

4. Executive Remuneration Arrangements
The Company aims to reward executives with a level and mix of remuneration commensurate with their position and responsibilities  
within the Company and so as to:

	ensure total remuneration is competitive by market standards;•	

	reward executives for exceptional individual performance; and•	

	align the interests of executives with those of shareholders.•	

Remuneration Mix

The Company’s executive remuneration is structured as a mix of fixed annual remuneration and variable ‘at risk’ remuneration.  
The mix of these components varies for different management levels. 

The table below sets out the relative proportion and components of the senior executives’ total remuneration packages for FY2012:

Percentage of Total Remuneration 
Performance-Based Remuneration

Fixed Remuneration Short Term Incentive Long Term Incentive
Executives

J Hendrich 58% 14% 28%

C H Naylor 78% - 22%

R J D Gard 73% 6% 21%

R Zammit 70% - 30%

Consultants holding key management positions

K Hendrick 91% - 9%

D Maughan 78% 10% 12%

Fixed Remuneration

The level of fixed remuneration is set so as to provide a base level of remuneration which is both appropriate to the position  
and is competitive in the market. Executive contracts of employment do not include any guaranteed base pay increases. 

The fixed component of executives’ remuneration is detailed in Table 1 and Table 2 of this report.

Variable Remuneration – Short Term Incentives

MEO does not have a formal Short Term Incentive Program, however the Company does recognise exceptional individual performances  
in any financial year through the award of a bonus.

In financial year 2011-2012, the Board approved a Short Term Incentive award of $125,000 to the Managing Director following the 
Remuneration and Nomination Committee’s assessment of the Managing Director’s performance against a suite of short term Key Performance 
Indicators (KPI’s). During 2011-2012 priority was attributed to the successful implementation of several extensive seismic acquisition projects, the 
advancement of exploration and appraisal activities in key Indonesian and Australian permits and the re-positioning of the Tassie Shoal projects. 
With this preparation and the strengthening of the MEO executive team, the Company is well positioned for future growth. The Managing 
Director has been pro-actively communicating the Company’s activities to the local and overseas markets. In recognition of his overall 
performance, the Board has agreed to make a Short Term Incentive award of $125,000. The KPIs were selected because of their strategic 
importance to the Company. In June/July 2012, the Remuneration and Nomination Committee formally assessed the extent to which each  
KPI had been achieved. In the Board’s view this method of assessment is considered appropriate, reliable and verifiable.
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remuneration report continued

4. Executive Remuneration Arrangements continued
Also in the financial year, the Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer approved a bonus of $35,000 to exploration manager,  
Mr D Maughan and a bonus of $25,000 to the commercial manager, Mr R J D Gard in recognition of their contributions to secure  
Eni as a NT/P68 joint venture partner. This performance measure was selected because of the strategic importance of the farm-in to  
the Company. The Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer assessed that the contribution and performance of Mr Maughan  
and Mr Gard was pivotal in securing Eni as a joint venture partner. 

For the FY2012 STI to the Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer, 83 per cent of the potential bonus was paid and 0 per cent was 
forfeited. For the FY2012 STI’s to Mr Gard and Mr Maughan, 100 per cent of the bonus was paid and 0 per cent was forfeited.

Variable Remuneration – Long Term Incentives

MEO considers the retention of high calibre staff as essential to the growth of the Company. Therefore as an incentive to recruit high  
calibre individuals to MEO or retain high calibre staff the Board will grant LTI securities (which may be in the form of share options and/or 
performance rights) under the Company’s Long Term Incentive plan (LTI Plan). 

Overview of the LTI Plan 

The LTI Plan was adopted by the Board on 13 September 2011. Under the Plan, the Board may invite eligible executives (being an employee 
of the MEO Group (including a Director employed in an executive capacity) or any other person who is declared by the Board to be eligible  
to receive a grant of LTI securities under the Plan) to participate in a grant of LTI securities, which may comprise of performance rights and/or 
options. Offers will be made on the terms set out in the Plan and on any additional terms as the Board determines.

Options and/or performance rights granted under the Plan will only vest, and in the case of options, become exercisable, where any 
performance condition and any other relevant conditions advised to the participant by the Board have been satisfied. 

On vesting of a performance right or following the exercise of an option (as the case may be), the Board will allocate the number of shares 
in respect of which the performance right have vested, or the options have been exercised. Any shares issued under the Plan will rank 
equally in all respects with other shares on issue at that time (except as regards any rights attaching to such shares by reference to a record 
date prior to the date of their issue).

In the event of a takeover, a scheme of arrangement, other reconstruction or amalgamation of the Company, a winding up of the Company 
or other event which is likely to result in a change of control of the Company, the Board may, in its absolute discretion, determine that all or 
a specified number of a participant’s unvested performance rights and/or options vest, having regard to all relevant circumstances, including 
whether performance is in line with any applicable performance condition over the period from the date of grant to the relevant event, and 
the portion of any applicable performance period or period of service that has expired at the date of the relevant event. Unless the Board 
determines otherwise, any vested options will be exercisable for a period specified by the Board and will lapse if not exercised within the 
specified period. 

In accordance with the terms of the Plan, prior to the allocation of shares to a participant upon vesting of performance rights or exercise  
of options (as the case may be), the Board may make any adjustments it considers appropriate to the terms of a performance right and/or 
option granted to a participant in order to minimise or eliminate any material advantage or disadvantage to a participant resulting from  
a corporate action or capital reconstruction. Without limiting the foregoing, if:

	shares are issued pro rata to the Company’s shareholders generally by way of a bonus issue (other than an issue in lieu of dividends  •	
or by way of a dividend reimbursement) involving capitalisation of reserves of distributable profits;

	shares are issued pro rata to the Company’s shareholders generally by way of a rights issue; or•	

	any reorganisation (including consolidated, subdivision, reduction or return) of the issued capital of the Company is effected;•	

then the Board may, in its discretion, adjust:

the number of performance rights or options to which each participant is entitled;•	

	the number of shares to which each participant is entitled upon vesting of performance rights or exercise of options;•	

	any amount payable on vesting of the performance rights or exercise of options; or•	

	where appropriate, a combination of the above;•	

in the manner determined by the Board, having regard to the ASX Listing Rules and the general principles set out above. Where additional 
performance rights or options are granted to a participant, such performance rights or options will be subject to the same terms and 
conditions as the original performance rights or options granted to the participant (including any performance conditions) unless  
the Board determines otherwise.
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Grants Made During FY2012

During FY2012, grants of options were made to executives under the LTI Plan, which have time based vesting conditions. The conditions  
of these options require staff to remain employed with the Company through to the vesting date of the share options, which is usually  
for a period of 12 months and/or 24 months.

Share options granted in FY12 were granted, subject to applicable vesting conditions, for nil consideration and carry an exercise price of 
$0.50. This exercise price is higher than the prevailing MEO share price (the 50 cent exercise price for the options represents a 277 per cent 
increase above the prevailing share price at 1 July 2011 (the Company’s share price as at 1 July 2011 was 18 cents) and therefore provides  
an incentive for staff to build shareholder value and strive to grow the Company. In the Board’s view this represents a challenging increase 
to the Company’s prevailing share price and assists to align a significant proportion of executive remuneration with Company performance. 
Given that the Company does not currently pay dividends, growth in the Company’s share price is a strong indication of growth in 
shareholder wealth.

Each option entitles the holder to one fully paid ordinary share in the Company.

See page 24 for details of options granted to KMP during the financial year.

Consultants

The Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer approve the terms and conditions of consultants’ contracts including fees, taking  
into account market conditions for the services that are provided. Consultant contracts do not include any guaranteed fee increases. 

Hedging of Equity Awards

The Company prohibits executives from entering into arrangements to protect the value of invested share options. The prohibition includes 
entering into contracts to hedge their exposure to options awarded as part of their remuneration package.

Executive Contractual Arrangements

The remuneration arrangements and other terms of employment for key management personnel (KMP) are formalised in employment 
agreements. The material terms of the KMP employment agreements are set out below.

Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer Remuneration 

On 1 July 2011, the Company entered into a new executive agreement with Mr Hendrich which contains the following major key terms:

Term: From 1 July 2011 until either the Company or Mr Hendrich terminates the Agreement.

Notice: The Company may terminate the Agreement at any time by giving three months’ notice in writing. Mr Hendrich may terminate the 
Agreement at any time by giving three months’ notice in writing to the Company or immediately upon giving notice that a ‘fundamental 
change’ to his employment has occurred. The Company may terminate without notice in the event of serious misconduct. The Company 
may elect to pay Mr Hendrich in lieu of part or all of any notice period.

Payments on Termination: Where the Company terminates Mr Hendrich’s employment (except in circumstances of serious misconduct) or 
Mr Hendrich’s employment ceases because of a ‘fundamental change’, Mr Hendrich is entitled to a lump sum payment of up to 12 months 
Total Fixed Remuneration (inclusive of any amount payable to Mr Hendrich in lieu of notice).

Other Executives 

All executives have standard employment contracts. Each executive is employed until such time as the Company or the executive terminates 
by giving notice. The Company may terminate the executive’s employment agreement by providing written notice (ranging from four weeks’ 
notice to three months’ notice) or providing payment in lieu of the notice period (based on the fixed component of the executive’s 
remuneration). The executive may terminate by giving notice under the employment contract, ranging from four weeks’ notice to two 
months’ notice. On termination of notice by the Company or the executive, any options that have vested or that will vest during the notice 
period will be released. Options that have not vested will be forfeited. The Company may terminate the contract at any time without notice 
if serious misconduct has occurred. Where termination with cause occurs the executive is only entitled to that portion of remuneration that 
is fixed, and only up to the date of termination. On termination with cause any unvested options will immediately be forfeited.

Consultants 

The Company has secured the services for Mr Maughan and Mr Hendrick via consulting agreements. These agreements set out the services 
to be provided, the contract term (typically twelve months) and the day rate for services provided. A meeting is held with each consultant 
prior to the conclusion of their agreement to resolve any extension or renewal of the agreement, if required, and the relevant terms and 
conditions of any such extension or renewal. 
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5. Remuneration Outcomes for FY2012

5.1 Remuneration of Key Management Personnel of the Company

Details of the remuneration of KMP (including the Non-Executive Directors) for FY2012 and comparative information for FY2011 are set out 
in Tables 1 and 2 below.

Table 1: Remuneration for the year ended 30 June 2012

Short Term
Post 

Employment
Share-based 

Payments
Long 
Term Total

Performance 
Related

Directors 
Fees 

$

Salary 
and Fees 

$

Non-
Monetary

Benefits

STI Cash
Bonus 

$

Super-
annuation

Benefits 
$

	 Options* 
	 $

Long 
Service 
Leave 

$ $ %
Non-Executive Directors

N M Heath 74,250 - - - 33,660 24,343 - 132,253 18.4

S W Hopley 17,580 - - - 50,000 24,343 - 91,923 26.5

G A Short 36,500 - - - 31,080 24,343 - 91,923 26.5

M J F Sweeney 62,000 - - - 5,580 24,343 - 91,923 26.5

Sub-total 
Non-Executive Directors 190,330 - - - 120,320 97,372 - 408,022 23.9

Executive Director
J Hendrich(iii) - 461,025 - 125,000 33,975 188,029 19,210 827,239 37.8

Other key management personnel

C H Naylor - 259,224 - - 15,775 34,504 10,303 319,806 10.8

R J D Gard(iv) - 259,224 - 25,000 15,775 34,504 13,324 347,827 17.1

R Zammit(i) - 160,417 17,098 - 9,202 34,504 5,599 226,820 15.2

Sub-total executives - 1,139,890 17,098 150,000 74,727 291,541 48,436 1,721,692 25.6

Consultants holding key management positions
D Maughan(ii)(iv) - 267,000 - 35,000 - 17,252 - 319,252 16.4

K Hendrick(ii) - 400,850 - - - 17,252 - 418,102 4.1

Sub-total consultants - 667,850 - 35,000 - 34,504 - 737,354 9.4

Total 190,330 1,807,740 17,098 185,000 195,047 423,417 48,436 2,867,068 21.2

* 	 Refer Note 22 to the consolidated financial statements for fair value calculation of options.

(i)	 Mr Zammit – appointed 1 December 2011.

(ii)	 Represents fees paid/payable for services provided by entities of the consultants.

(iii)	 In the FY2011-2012 the Board approved a bonus of $125,000 to the Managing Director. See page 19 for details relating to the short term incentive. The 
bonus was paid in July 2012. A minimum level of performance was required to be achieved before the Board decided to award the bonus. Therefore, the 
minimum potential value of the award in respect of the year was nil. The value of the grant awarded to the Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer 
represented 83 per cent of the potential STI. The percentage of the Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer remuneration comprising share options 
was 22.7 per cent.

(iv)	 The Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer approved a bonus of $35,000 to the exploration manager, Mr D Maughan and a $25,000 to the 
commercial manager, Mr R J D Gard in recognition of their contribution to secure Eni as a NT/P68 joint venture partner. The bonuses were paid in August 
2011. A minimum level of performance was required to be achieved before the Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer approved award of the 
bonus. Therefore, the minimum potential value of the award in respect of the year was nil. The maximum value of the grant awarded to the commercial 
manager is the actual amount paid. The percentage of the exploration manager’s remuneration comprising of options was 5.4 per cent and the percentage 
of the commercial manager’s remuneration comprising of options was 9.9 per cent.
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Table 2: Remuneration for the year ended 30 June 2011

Short Term
Post 

Employment
Share-based 

Payments Long Term Total
Performance 

Related

Directors 
Fees 

$

Salary and 
Fees 

$

STI Cash
Bonus 

$

Super-
annuation

Benefits 
$

	 Options*

	 $

Long 
Service 
Leave 

$ $ %
Non-Executive Directors

N M Heath 83,000 - - 7,470 - - 90,470 -

S W Hopley 28,000 - - 41,630 - - 69,630 -

G A Short 14,250 - - 47,880 - - 62,130 -

M J F Sweeney 57,000 - - 5,130 - - 62,130 -

Sub-total 
Non-Executive Directors 182,250 - - 102,110 - - 284,360 -

Executive Director
J Hendrich(ii) - 423,150 150,000 34,650 400,856 13,122 1,021,778 53.9

Other key management personnel

C H Naylor - 209,998 - 50,000 29,797 8,585 298,380 10.0

R J D Gard - 225,000 - 20,250 29,797 4,253 279,300 10.7

Sub-total executives - 858,148 150,000 104,900 460,450 25,960 1,599,458 38.2

Consultants holding key management positions
D Maughan(i) - 299,000 - - 14,899 - 313,899 4.7

K Hendrick(i) - 452,475 - - 14,899 - 467,374 3.2

Sub-total consultants - 751,475 - - 29,798 - 781,273 3.8
Total 182,250 1,609,623 150,000 207,010 490,248 25,960 2,665,091 24.0

*	 Refer Note 22 to the consolidated financial statements for fair value calculation of options.

(i)	 Represents fees paid/payable for services provided by entities of the consultants.	

(ii)	 In the 2010-2011 financial year the Board approved a bonus of $150,000 to the Managing Director largely in recognition of the significance to the 
Company of the Petrobras farm-in to WA-360-P. The $39,406,597 cash received from the farm-in resulted in a strengthening of the financial position  
of the Company which was further increased with a share placement prior to the drilling of the Artemis-1 exploration well. The farm-in is aligned with  
the corporate strategy of building shareholder value through the development of a portfolio of opportunities and strengthening the Company’s financial 
position. The bonus was paid in December 2010. A minimum level of performance was required to be achieved before the Board decided to award the 
bonus. Therefore, the minimum potential value of the award in respect of the year was nil. The maximum value of the grant awarded to the Managing 
Director and Chief Executive Officer is the actual amount paid. The percentage of the Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer remuneration 
comprising of options was 39.2 per cent.
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remuneration report continued

5. Remuneration Outcomes for FY2012 continued

5.2 Equity Instruments 

Table 3: Options awarded, vested and lapsed during the year

30 June 2012
Award

Date

	 Options 
	 Awarded 
	 During the 
	 Year No.*

Fair Value
Per Option at 

Award Date
(Cents)

Vesting 
Date

No. 
Vested
During

Year

No. 
Lapsed 
During 

Year
Expiry

Date
Non-Executive Directors

N M Heath 27 Oct 2011 300,000 6.0 27 Oct 2012 - - 27 Oct 2015

N M Heath 27 Oct 2011 300,000 7.0 27 Oct 2013 - - 27 Oct 2015

N M Heath 27 Oct 2011 300,000 8.0 27 Oct 2014 - - 27 Oct 2015

S W Hopley 27 Oct 2011 300,000 6.0 27 Oct 2012 - - 27 Oct 2015

S W Hopley 27 Oct 2011 300,000 7.0 27 Oct 2013 - - 27 Oct 2015

S W Hopley 27 Oct 2011 300,000 8.0 27 Oct 2014 - - 27 Oct 2015

S W Hopley 30 Sep 2009 - - 30 Sep 2009 - 1,000,000 30 Sep 2011

G A Short 27 Oct 2011 300,000 6.0 27 Oct 2012 - - 27 Oct 2015

G A Short 27 Oct 2011 300,000 7.0 27 Oct 2013 - - 27 Oct 2015

G A Short 27 Oct 2011 300,000 8.0 27 Oct 2014 - - 27 Oct 2015

M J F Sweeney 27 Oct 2011 300,000 6.0 27 Oct 2012 - - 27 Oct 2015

M J F Sweeney 27 Oct 2011 300,000 7.0 27 Oct 2013 - - 27 Oct 2015

M J F Sweeney 27 Oct 2011 300,000 8.0 27 Oct 2014 - - 27 Oct 2015

M J F Sweeney 30 Sep 2009 - - 30 Sep 2009 - 1,000,000 30 Sep 2011

Executives

J Hendrich 27 Oct 2011 1,000,000 7.1 1 Jul 2012 - - 1 Jul 2016

J Hendrich 27 Oct 2011 1,000,000 8.1 1 Jul 2013 - - 1 Jul 2016

J Hendrich 27 Oct 2011 1,000,000 9.0 1 Jul 2014 - - 1 Jul 2016

J Hendrich 16 Jun 2008 - - Sep 2011 - 3,100,000 30 Sep 2011

C H Naylor  1 Dec 2011 500,000 7.5 1 Dec 2012 - - 1 Dec 2016

C H Naylor  1 Dec 2011 500,000 8.6 1 Dec 2013 - - 1 Dec 2016

C H Naylor 29 Jun 2009 - - Jun 2010 & Jun 2011 - 900,000 30 Jun 2012

R J D Gard 1 Dec 2011 500,000 7.5 1 Dec 2012 - - 1 Dec 2016

R J D Gard 1 Dec 2011 500,000 8.6 1 Dec 2013 - - 1 Dec 2016

R J D Gard 29 Jun 2009 - - Jun 2010 & Jun 2011 - 900,000 30 Jun 2012

R Zammit 1 Dec 2011 500,000 7.5 1 Dec 2012 - - 1 Dec 2016

R Zammit  1 Dec 2011 500,000 8.6 1 Dec 2013 - - 1 Dec 2016

D Maughan  1 Dec 2011 250,000 7.5 1 Dec 2012 - - 1 Dec 2016

D Maughan  1 Dec 2011 250,000 8.6 1 Dec 2013 - - 1 Dec 2016

D Maughan 29 Jun 2009 - - Jun 2010 & Jun 2011 - 450,000 30 Jun 2012

K Hendrick  1 Dec 2011 250,000 7.5 1 Dec 2012 - - 1 Dec 2016

K Hendrick  1 Dec 2011 250,000 8.6 1 Dec 2013 - - 1 Dec 2016

K Hendrick 29 Jun 2009 - - Jun 2010 & Jun 2011 - 450,000 30 Jun 2012

Total 10,600,000 7,800,000

* All options awarded during the year have a 50 cent exercise price.
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Table 4: Value of options awarded, exercised and lapsed during the year 

Value of Options Granted  
During the Year 

$

Value of Options Exercised  
During the Year 

$

Value of Options Lapsed  
During the Year 

$

N M Heath 63,060 - -

S W Hopley 63,060 - 38,200

G A Short 63,060 - -

M J F Sweeney 63,060 - 38,200

J Hendrich 242,200 - 923,500

C H Naylor 80,600 - 108,000

R J D Gard 80,600 - 108,000

R Zammit 80,600 - -

D Maughan 40,300 - 54,000

K Hendrick 40,300 - 54,000

For details on the valuation of the options, including models used and assumptions used please refer to Note 22 to the consolidated  
financial statements.

Table 5: Share issued on exercise of options 

There was no exercise of options during the reporting period (2011: nil).	

6. Company Performance 
The remuneration of MEO executives and contractors is not formally linked to financial performance measures of the Company. However, as 
explained on page 21, Executives are strongly incentivised to maximise shareholder wealth because of the fact that the exercise price of the 
options granted to Executives, should they vest, is higher than the market price on the grant date. In accordance the Section 300A of the 
Corporations Act 2001 the following table summarises MEO’s performance over a five year period:

Measure 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

Net (loss)/profit – $000 (5,698) 13,707 (4,826) (28,185) (1,871)

Basic (loss)/earnings per share – cents per share (1.06) 2.67 (1.07) (6.76) (0.51)

Share price at the beginning of year – $ 0.18 0.25 0.23 0.50 1.39

Share price at end of year – $ 0.25 0.18 0.25 0.23 0.50

Dividends per share – cents Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors.

J Hendrich
Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer
Melbourne, 7 September 2012
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The Board is committed to conducting the business of MEO Australia Limited (MEO or the Company) ethically and in accordance with 
principles of good corporate governance. The Company’s corporate governance framework is kept under review and changes are made  
in response to changes in the Company’s business or applicable legislation and standards. During the year, a review of the Company’s 
corporate governance practices was undertaken and a number of the Company’s charters and policies were updated, including the Board 
Charter (with the Board’s guidelines relating to independence), the Remuneration & Nomination Committee Charter, the Code of Conduct 
and the Company’s Continuous Disclosure Policy. The Company also adopted a Diversity Policy during the year.

This corporate governance statement sets out the key elements of our corporate governance framework that have operated throughout  
the year, unless otherwise indicated. The Company considers that the corporate governance framework and practices comply with the  
ASX Corporate Governance Council’s Principles and Recommendations, released in revised form in 2010 (with effect from 1 January 2011) 
(the ASX Principles), unless indicated otherwise below. 

Further information about MEO’s governance policies is contained in the Corporate Governance section of the Company’s website:  
www.meoaustralia.com.au

The table at the end of this statement provides cross references between the disclosures and statements in this corporate governance 
statement and the relevant ASX Principles.

1. The Board of Directors
The Board operates in accordance with the general principles set out in its Charter, which was revised in 2012 and which can be viewed  
in the Corporate Governance section of the Company’s website at www.meoaustralia.com.au 

1.1 Role of the Board

The role of the Board of Directors is to create sustainable shareholder wealth in a manner consistent with the Company’s constitution and 
principles of good corporate governance. The Board achieves this by representing the interests of shareholders in setting and overseeing  
the Company’s values, direction, strategies, financial objectives and performance within a framework of prudent and effective controls  
for the assessment and management of risk. 

The Board is responsible for appointing and monitoring the performance of the Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer (hereafter 
referred to as the Managing Director), to whom it has delegated responsibility for the operation and administration of the Company. 
Directors receive regular and comprehensive reports from the Managing Director and have unrestricted access to Company records, 
information and the senior management team.

The Board strives to create shareholder value and ensure that shareholder funds are safeguarded. To fulfil this role, the Board  
is concerned with:

	approving the corporate strategy;•	

	overseeing the Company’s long term performance against targets and objectives;•	

	monitoring systems of risk management and internal control, ethical standards, environmental and safety performance and legal •	
compliance;

	monitoring the Group’s financial performance;•	

	approving operating budgets and major capital expenditures;•	

	monitoring and assessing the performance of the Managing Director;•	

	assessing business risk profile, risk management and business continuity plans, the adequacy of corporate governance and other  •	
policies, internal controls and organisation structures; and

	reporting to shareholders on the direction, governance and performance of the Company.•	

The Board reviews its composition and processes annually (as detailed below).

1.2 Composition of the Board

The composition of the Board is determined using the following principles:

	the Board may, in accordance with the Constitution, comprise up to ten Directors, a majority of whom should be independent; and•	

	the Chairman of the Board should be an independent Non-Executive Director.•	

The Board comprises Directors with a broad range of experience having a proper understanding of the current and emerging issues facing 
the Company, who can effectively review and challenge management’s decisions. Each Director brings different skills and professional 
expertise to the Board. The Board seeks to achieve a mix of skills and diversity that includes exploration (Australia and overseas), legal, 
marketing and financial experience as well as an understanding of the oil and gas industry in which the Company operates. 

corporate governance statement
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The Board assesses existing and potential Directors’ skills to ensure they are appropriate for the current and future needs of the Company.

The Board is currently comprised of four Non-Executive Directors (including the Chairman) and one Executive Director (the Managing 
Director). Details of the skills, experience and expertise of the Directors, and of the Company Secretary, as well as the period for which  
the Director has held office are set out in the Directors’ Report on pages 10 and 11.

1.3 Independence

The Board reviews the independence of each Director in light of interests disclosed to the Board from time to time and at least once a year. 
The Board has determined that the Chairman and all Non-Executive Directors are independent in accordance with the definition 
recommended in the ASX Principles, having no business or other relationship that could compromise their independence. 

The Board has adopted guidelines to determine materiality thresholds for the purposes of that definition. Broadly speaking, these guidelines 
seek to determine whether the Director is generally free of any interest and any business or other relationship that could, or could reasonably 
be perceived to, materially interfere with the Director’s ability to act in the best interests of the Company. The Board will consider thresholds 
of materiality for the purposes of determining ‘independence’ on a case by case basis, having regard to both quantitative and qualitative 
principles. Directors have agreed to advise the Board, on an ongoing basis, of any interest that could potentially conflict with those of the 
Company. Further details of the Company’s guidelines for determining the independence of Directors are set out in the Company’s Board 
Charter.

The Board believes the separation of the roles of Chairman and Managing Director, and the composition of the Board being comprised  
of a majority of independent Non-Executive Directors, is appropriate.

Directors’ shareholdings are set out on page 12 of the Directors’ Report.

1.4 Term of Office and Re-election of Directors

All Non-Executive Directors are appointed under a letter of appointment, setting out the terms of their appointment, including their powers, 
rights and obligations.

In making recommendations to the Board regarding the appointment of Directors, the Remuneration and Nomination Committee 
periodically assesses the appropriate mix of skills, experience and expertise required by the Board and assesses the extent to which the 
required skills and experience are represented on the Board. Nominations for appointment are then approved by the Board as a whole. 
When a vacancy exists or there is a need for particular skills, the Remuneration and Nomination Committee determines the selection criteria 
based on the skills deemed necessary. The Committee identifies potential candidates, and if appropriate, will utilise an external consultant  
to assist in identifying potential candidates. The Board then appoints the most suitable candidate.

New Directors will participate in an induction program to assist them to understand MEO’s business and the particular issues it faces.

All Directors (except the Managing Director) are elected by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting following their appointment  
and thereafter are subject to re-election at least once every three years.

1.5 Access to Information and Independent Advice

Each Director has the right of access to all relevant Company information and to the Company’s senior management, external advisers  
and auditors. 

Directors may also seek independent professional advice at the Company’s expense. Any Director seeking such advice is required to make  
a formal request to the Board. Any advice so received must be made available to all other Directors unless otherwise agreed.

2. Board Committees
The Board generally operates as a whole across the range of its responsibilities but, to increase its effectiveness, uses committees where 
closer attention to particular matters is required. The role of the Board Committees is to make recommendations to the Board on matters 
set out in each Committee’s Charter. The Charters for the Audit Committee, the Remuneration & Nomination and the Health, Safety and 
Environment Committee are available on the corporate governance section of the Company’s website at www.meoaustralia.com.au.  
The Board currently assumes the role and responsibilities of the Health, Safety and Environment Committee.

The Audit Committee and the Remuneration & Nomination Committees comprise Non-Executive Directors. Details regarding the role of each 
Committee and its composition as at 30 June 2012 are set out below. Details regarding the number of Board meetings and committee 
meetings held during the year and the attendance of each member is set out in the Directors’ Report on page 15.
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corporate governance statement continued

2. Board Committees continued

2.1 Audit Committee

Members Stephen Hopley (Committee Chairman), Nicholas Heath, Gregory Short and Michael Sweeney.

Role The Audit Committee’s role is to assist the Board in the effective discharge of its responsibilities for financial 
reporting and taxation, the maintenance of efficient and appropriate controls in key business processes,  
and the relationship with the external and internal auditors.

Responsibilities The Audit Committee’s responsibilities include:

reviewing the Company’s financial statements prior to approval by the Board, including discussing with  •	
the external auditor the implications of any major transactions and the accounting policies adopted by  
the Company;

regularly reviewing the ongoing solvency of the Company;•	

overseeing the relationship with the external auditor, auditor independence and the external audit function;•	

overseeing the adequacy of processes and controls established by senior management over the Company’s •	
business processes, including financial information and IT processes; and

reviewing and monitoring the propriety of related party transactions.•	

Composition The committee is chaired by an independent Non-Executive Director and comprises four Non-Executive 
Directors, all of whom are independent and financially literate. The Chairman of the Board is not permitted  
to chair the committee. Of the current committee members, Mr Hopley has substantial accounting and 
financial experience, Mr Short and Mr Heath have industry experience and Mr Sweeney has legal and  
industry experience. 

Consultation The Managing Director is invited to attend all committee meetings. Other members of management may also 
attend by invitation. The committee has access to financial and legal advisers as it considers appropriate. The 
committee also meets with the external auditor in the absence of management whenever deemed appropriate 
to ensure the committee can be satisfied that the auditors have had the full cooperation of management in 
conducting audit functions, and to give the auditor the opportunity to raise any matters of concern.

External Auditor The external auditor is appointed by the Board and approved by shareholders in accordance with the 
requirements of the Corporations Act. The Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing the terms of 
appointment of the external auditor and for making recommendations to the Board regarding the 
appointment of the external auditor. It is the Company’s policy to require that the external audit  
partner be rotated within five years from the date of appointment.

2.2 Remuneration and Nomination Committee

Members Nicholas Heath (Committee Chairman), Stephen Hopley, Gregory Short and Michael Sweeney.

Role The role of the committee is to oversee matters and policies relating to succession planning, recruitment, 
appointment and remuneration of Non-Executive Directors, the Managing Director and senior management.

Responsibilities The responsibilities of the committee in respect of remuneration include:

assisting the Board in determining an appropriate remuneration framework for senior management  •	
and remuneration, recruitment, retention and termination policies;

making recommendations to the Board on the Managing Director’s remuneration, (including short  •	
and long term incentive plans, performance targets and bonus payments);

reviewing and making recommendations to the Board about the remuneration arrangements for  •	
Non-Executive Directors; and

liaising with external advisors on remuneration-related matters, if and when external remuneration  •	
advice is needed.
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The responsibilities of the committee in respect of nomination include:

assessing the size and composition of the Board, having regard to the objective that the Board comprise •	
Directors with a broad range of skills, expertise and experience from a broad range of backgrounds, 
including gender;

assisting the Board in reviewing the performance of the Board, its committees and individual Non-Executive •	
Directors;

reviewing and recommending to the Board candidates for election and re-election as Directors in accordance •	
with the Board’s criteria; and

annually reviewing and making recommendations to the Board about the Board Diversity Policy.•	

Composition The committee is chaired by an independent Non-Executive Director and comprises four Non-Executive 
Directors, all of whom are independent.

Consultation The committee may obtain information from, and consult with, management and external advisers,  
as it considers appropriate.

 

3. Performance Evaluation and Remuneration
3.1 Performance Evaluation

For the 2012 financial year, the Board performance evaluation process was an internal process led by the Chairman. As part of this review 
process all Directors completed a questionnaire and were able to make additional comments or raise any issue that they had relating to  
the Board’s or a committee’s operation. The results of the review were compiled by the Chairman and discussed with Board members as  
a whole. The purpose of the review was to assess strengths and weaknesses of the Board and committees, and identify areas that might  
be improved. The findings of this performance review have been considered by the Board and have been, and continue to be, taken into 
account in identifying and nominating new candidates for appointment as Director, and in planning and conducting Board and committee 
matters. Directors are able to raise concerns regarding an individual Director’s performance with the Chairman at any time during the year.

For the 2012 financial year, the performance of the Managing Director was assessed by the Board against achievement by the business  
and the Managing Director of agreed objectives, including:

	the successful implementation of several extensive seismic acquisition projects, •	

	the advancement of exploration and appraisal activities in key Indonesian and Australian permits,•	

	the repositioning of the Tassie Shoal projects. •	

	strengthening the MEO executive team,•	

	proactively communicating the Company’s activities to the local and overseas markets. •	

The performance of the Company’s senior executives is reviewed by the Managing Director as part of the annual remuneration review 
process and reported to the Remuneration and Nomination Committee. The reviews take place in May/June of each year, prior to the 
commencement of the new financial year. Further details regarding the remuneration review process is set out in the Remuneration Report. 

3.2 Director and Executive Remuneration

Remuneration levels are competitively set to attract and retain appropriately qualified and experienced personnel. Performance, duties  
and responsibilities, market comparison and independent advice are all considered as part of the remuneration process.

The structure and details of the remuneration paid to the Directors and senior executives during the 2012 financial year are set out 
in the Remuneration Report on pages 18-25 of this report and Note 21 of the financial statements.
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4. Risk Management and Internal Controls
4.1 Risk Management Framework

The Board is responsible for overseeing the effectiveness of systems of risk management and internal control. The identification and effective 
management of risk, including calculated risk taking is viewed as an essential part of the Company’s approach to creating long term 
shareholder value.

In recognition of this, the Board determines the Company’s risk profile and is responsible for overseeing and approving risk management 
strategy and policy, internal compliance and internal control. In doing so the Board has taken the view that it is crucial for all Board members 
to be part of this process and, accordingly, the Board has not established a separate risk management committee.

During 2012, each Director provided an update of their assessment of the key risks facing the company. A risk register was compiled and risk 
mitigation plans will be developed for risks categorised as ‘high’ rating.

The Company’s activities are currently centred on progressing the commercialisation of its upstream assets and advancement of its projects 
to the financial commitment stage, processes which, for the Company, have both uncertainty and moderate to high risk. Existing policies 
and procedures are appropriate for the business at this stage of its development. In brief, the Company’s current risk management 
framework has been developed to ensure strategic, operational, financial, legal, reputational, technological, environmental and health and 
safety risks are identified, assessed, effectively and efficiently managed and monitored. At each major milestone of the commercialisation  
of MEO’s upstream assets, further specific risk oversight and management policies will be developed which are consistent with activities  
at that time.

Where it is appropriate, possible and practicable to transfer a particular risk, and in order to protect shareholders’ funds, the Company 
carries insurance that the Board considers is sufficient for the size and nature of the Company’s businesses.

4.2 Internal Controls Framework

Internal controls refer to the processes designed to address risks and to provide reasonable assurance that, in pursuing its objectives,  
MEO is complying with applicable laws and regulations and safeguarding company resources against loss, misuse and damage. 

Given the size of MEO, the Board does not consider it appropriate to delegate the design of risk management and control systems  
to management. Instead, the Board has established, and management has implemented, various policies and practices designed  
to identify and manage significant business risks, including:

	Company business plans and approval of budgets;•	

	detailed monthly financial and operational reporting to the Board;•	

	policies regarding authority levels or expenditure;•	

	policies and procedures relating to health, safety and the environment; and•	

	policies and procedures relating to financial controls and treasury matters.•	

Day to day responsibility for risk oversight and management is delegated to the Managing Director who is primarily responsible for 
identifying, monitoring and responding to risk events and communicating them to the Board. Regular updates are provided to the Board  
by management on the management of material business risks.

The systems of internal financial control have been determined by the Board as adequate to provide appropriate, but not absolute, 
protection against fraud, material misstatement or loss.

4.3 Managing Director and CFO Certifications

The Managing Director and Chief Financial Officer have made the following certifications to the Board:

	that the integrity of the financial statements is founded on a sound system of risk management and internal compliance and control, •	
which implements policies adopted by the Board;

	that the Company’s risk management and internal compliance and control system is operating efficiently and effectively in all material •	
respects in relation to financial reporting risk; and

	that the Company’s financial reports present a true and fair view in all material respects of the Company’s financial condition  •	
and operating results and that they are in accordance with relevant accounting standards and the Corporations Act 2001.

Management has also completed an internal control questionnaire in support of the Managing Director and CFO’s certification.
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5. MEO Governance Policies
5.1 Integrity, Ethical Standards and Compliance

The Board of Directors believes it is important to provide a clear set of values that emphasise a culture encompassing strong corporate 
governance, sound business practices and good ethical conduct.

To this end, the Board has adopted a Code of Conduct including policies and standards on issues of business ethics and integrity, and 
reporting and investigating unethical practices. The Code of Conduct was revised in 2012 to ensure it remains current, relevant and 
appropriate to the needs of the Company. The Code of Conduct applies to all people employed, contracted by, associated with, or  
acting on behalf of the Company, including the Company’s Directors. The Code of Conduct requires:

	the adoption of the highest standards of integrity in all dealings with customers, shareholders, government, other employees,  •	
suppliers and the community;

	awareness of, and compliance with, relevant fair trading laws in the jurisdictions in which the Company operates;•	

	the avoidance of conflicts of interest (whether perceived or actual);•	

	employees, contractors and Directors to protect any Company assets under their control and not use Company assets for personal •	
purposes without prior Company approval;

	respect for the privacy of others; and•	

	compliance with appropriate protocols prohibiting disclosure or use in any improper manner confidential information, including •	
information about customers, agents or other business affairs.

The Code of Conduct contains procedures for reporting improper conduct and whistleblower protection. Failure to comply with the Code  
of Conduct is taken very seriously by the Company and may result in the Board requiring the resignation of the individual who breaches it. 
Full details of the Code of Conduct may be found on the Company’s website at www.meoaustralia.com.au

 
5.2 Dealing in Securities

The Company has adopted a Policy for Dealing in Securities. Under that policy there are prohibited periods during which key management 
personnel may not deal in any MEO securities. Those prohibited periods are:

	the 30-day period immediately preceding the announcement of MEO’s full year and half year results or, if shorter, the period between  •	
the end of MEO’s financial year or half year, and the announcement of the full year results, or half year results, as the case may be; and

	any additional period when inside information exists within the Company.•	

Subject to the above and subject to the Corporations Act, a Director, executive or employee or their associates may deal in MEO securities 
provided that they first notify and receive written clearance to deal from the Company Secretary. If the Company Secretary wishes to deal, 
he must first notify and seek written clearance from the Managing Director, and if the Managing Director wishes to deal, he must first notify 
and seek written clearance from the Chairman.

Certain dealings are not subject to the provisions of the Policy for Dealing in Securities, including:

	taking up entitlements under a rights issue or other similar offer; or•	

	exercising options under a share option scheme;•	

provided that any such trade would not constitute insider trading or otherwise be prohibited under the Corporations Act.

Full details of the Dealing in Shares Policy may be found on the Company’s website at www.meoaustralia.com.au

5.3 Diversity

MEO recognises that people are its most important asset and is committed to maintaining an inclusive culture that embraces diversity. 
Diversity drives the Company’s ability to attract, retain and develop the best talent, create an engaged workforce and continue to grow  
the business. In accordance with the ASX Principles, in June 2012, the Board adopted a Diversity Policy, a copy of which is available  
in the Corporate Governance section of the Company’s website: www.meoaustralia.com.au

The Diversity Policy requires the Board to establish measurable objectives for achieving gender diversity and for the Board to assess annually 
both the objectives and progress in achieving them. The Board reports that the Company’s workforce, although small, includes significant 
female participation. As at 30 June 2012, 50 per cent of the Company’s employees (inclusive of permanent and casual staff) were women.  
The proportion of women in senior executive positions and on the Board is discussed in the table on page 32. 
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5. MEO Governance Policies continued
The Company’s objective is to maintain a significant level of female participation in the Company’s workforce at all levels, with a particular 
emphasis on gender diversity in technical roles. Given the size of the Company, the Board considers it unrealistic to commit to a specific level 
of female participation in the Company’s workforce on an ongoing basis. However, the Board supports measures to attract women to the 
Company, including continuing to offer flexible work arrangements and setting out clear expectations of behaviours for employees that 
foster a supportive and inclusive work environment.

Details regarding the specific measurable objectives that have been set by the Board under the Diversity Policy, and the Company’s progress 
against them, are set out in the table below:

Objective Status of the Objective

A. Objectives for the Board

Include diversity as one of the selection criteria for Board and senior 
management appointments. 

Ongoing. 

There are no female members of the key management personnel 
of the Company or of the Board at the date of this report. If a 
vacancy arises or the Board is expanded in future, the Board will 
consider a diverse range of candidates who will be assessed on 
merit based on their judgement, skills, experience with business 
and other organisations of a comparable size, the interplay of  
the candidate’s experience with the experience of other Board 
members and the extent to which the candidate would be a 
desirable addition to the Board and its committees.

B. Objectives for the Company

Recruitment, selection and promotion objectives

Subject to the availability of suitable candidates, seek to retain  
or better the existing proportion of women currently in senior 
management.

Ongoing. See above.

Use selection and assessment methods which are free from bias  
and do not discriminate on the basis of individual attributes.

Ongoing.

Review the Company’s terms and conditions of employment,  
and remuneration and benefits programs to make sure they  
are fair and non-discriminatory.

Ongoing

Induction and training objectives

Communicate the Diversity Policy to all employees during their 
induction.

Ongoing 

As needed, provide appropriate education and training in respect  
of equal employment opportunity, workplace behaviours and 
awareness of style and cultural differences.

Ongoing. The Board is continuing to set out clear expectations  
of behaviours for employees that foster a supportive and inclusive 
work environment.

Provide all employees with the same opportunity to access training 
based on their role requirements.

Ongoing 

Flexible work practices objectives

Formal annual review of all part-time work arrangements to ensure 
roles are appropriate to maintain career development.

Ongoing. The Board continues to offer flexible work arrangements.

Ensure awareness of the options for flexible work arrangements  
and family support programs available. 

Ongoing. The Board continues to offer flexible work arrangements. 

Pay and performance appraisal objectives

Complete an annual analysis of pay equity with a view to identifying 
any unexplained pay differentials between positions with similar 
levels of responsibility. 

Ongoing 

Other objectives

Implement an effective measurement and reporting framework  
for the Diversity Policy.

Ongoing 
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5.4 Health, Safety and Environment

The Company has continued its emphasis on health and safety in the workplace with the aim of ensuring that people achieve outcomes  
in a safe manner, thereby contributing to operational effectiveness and business sustainability. The Company has an Occupational Health  
and Safety Policy and a management system in place.

The Company’s safety performance is reported regularly to the Board to assist the Board in monitoring compliance with the Company’s 
policy and the relevant regulatory requirements.

During the year, the Company was responsible for a number of seismic acquisition programs in offshore Australia and Indonesia.  
There were no reported environmental incidents or Lost Time Injuries (LTI’s) during the year. 

5.5 Continuous Disclosure and Communication with Shareholders

The Company is committed to providing relevant and timely information to its shareholders and to the broader market, in accordance  
with its obligations under the ASX continuous disclosure regime. The Board has a Disclosure Policy, details of which are accessible  
in the Corporate Governance section on the Company’s website. 

Directors endeavour to ensure that shareholders are regularly and fully informed of all major developments affecting the Company.

The Annual Report is sent to all shareholders unless shareholders instruct the Company otherwise.

Information relating to the Company, including the Annual Report, half-year announcement to the ASX and other major ASX 
announcements, is publicly available on the Company’s website at www.meoaustralia.com.au under Investor Relations.

Individual shareholders are given an opportunity to raise questions at the Annual General Meeting. There is regular dialogue with 
institutional investors and any presentation material is contemporaneously made available to all shareholders by announcement to the ASX.

Documents that are released publicly, including policies and charters described in this Corporate Governance Statement, are made available 
on the Company’s website at www.meoaustralia.com.au
 
ASX Corporate Governance Council’s Principles and Recommendations

ASX Principle Reference1 Compliance

Principle 1 Lay solid foundations for management and oversight

1.1 Companies should establish the functions reserved to the Board 
and those delegated to senior executives and disclose those 
functions.

1.1 Comply

1.2 Companies should disclose the process for evaluating  
the performance of senior executives.

3.1, 3.2 and 
Remuneration Report

Comply

1.3 Companies should provide the information indicated  
in the guide to reporting on Principle 1.

1.1, 3.1 Comply

Principle 2 Structure the Board to add value

2.1 A majority of the Board should be independent Directors. 1.3 Comply

2.2 The Chair should be an independent Director. 1.2, 1.3 Comply

2.3 The roles of Chair and Chief Executive Officer should not  
be exercised by the same individual.

1.3 Comply

2.4 The Board should establish a Nomination Committee. 2, 2.2 Comply

2.5 Companies should disclose the process for evaluating the 
performance of the Board, its committees and individual 
Directors.

3.1 Comply

2.6 Companies should provide the information indicated  
in the guide to reporting on Principle 2.

1.2, 1.3, 2.2, 3.1, 
Directors’ Report

Comply
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corporate governance statement continued

ASX Principle Reference1 Compliance

Principle 3 Promote ethical and responsible decision-making

3.1 Companies should establish a code of conduct and disclose  
the code or a summary of the code as to: 

the practices necessary to maintain confidence in the •	
Company’s integrity;

the practices necessary to take into account its legal •	
obligations and the reasonable expectations of its 
stakeholders; and

the responsibility and accountability of individuals for •	
reporting and investigating reports of unethical practices.

5.1 Comply

3.2 Companies should establish a policy concerning diversity and 
disclose the policy or summary of that policy. The policy should 
include requirements for the Board to establish measurable 
objectives for achieving gender diversity and for the Board  
to assess annually both the objectives and progress in 
achieving them.

5.3 Comply

3.3 Companies should disclose in each Annual Report the 
measurable objectives for achieving gender diversity set by  
the Board in accordance with the Diversity Policy and progress 
towards achieving them.

5.3 Comply

3.4 Companies should disclose in each Annual Report the 
proportion of women employees in the whole organisation, 
women in senior executive positions and women on the Board.

5.3 Comply

3.5 Companies should provide the information indicated  
in the guide to reporting on Principle 3.

5.1, 5.3 Comply

Principle 4 Safeguard integrity in financial reporting

4.1 The Board should establish an Audit Committee. 2.1 Comply

4.2 The Audit Committee should be structured so that it:

consists only of Non-Executive Directors;•	

consists of a majority of independent Directors;•	

is chaired by an independent Chair, who is not Chair  •	
of the Board; and

has at least three members.•	

2.1 Comply

4.3 The Audit Committee should have a formal charter. 2, 2.1 Comply

4.4 Companies should provide the information indicated  
in the guide to reporting on Principle 4.

2.1, Directors’ Report Comply

Principle 5 Make timely and balanced disclosure

5.1 Companies should establish written policies and procedures 
designed to ensure compliance with ASX Listing Rule disclosure 
requirements and to ensure accountability at a senior executive 
level for that compliance and disclose those policies or  
a summary of those policies.

5.5 Comply

5.2 Companies should provide the information indicated  
in the guide to reporting on Principle 5.

5.5 Comply

5. MEO Governance Policies continued
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ASX Principle Reference1 Compliance

Principle 6 Respect the rights of shareholders

6.1 Companies should design a communications policy for 
promoting effective communication with shareholders and 
encouraging their participation at general meetings and  
disclose their policy or a summary of that policy.

5.5 Comply

6.2 Companies should provide the information indicated  
in the guide to reporting on Principle 6.

5.5 Comply

Principle 7 Recognise and manage risk

7.1 Companies should establish policies for the oversight and 
management of material business risks and disclose a summary 
of those policies.

4.1, 4.2 Comply

7.2 The Board should require management to design and implement 
the risk management and internal control system to manage the 
Company’s material business risks and report to it on whether 
those risks are being managed effectively. The Board should 
disclose that management has reported to it as to the 
effectiveness of the Company’s management of its material 
business risks.

4.2, 4.3 Comply in part. See 
explanation regarding 

Board responsibility  
for designing risk 

management systems  
in section 4.2.

7.3 The Board should disclose whether it has received assurance 
from the Chief Executive Officer (or equivalent) and the Chief 
Financial Officer (or equivalent) that the declaration provided  
in accordance with section 295A of the Corporations Act is 
founded on a sound system of risk management and internal 
control and that the system is operating effectively in all material 
respects in relation to financial reporting risks.

4.3 Comply

7.4 Companies should provide the information indicated  
in the guide to reporting on Principle 7.

4.3 Comply

Principle 8 Remunerate fairly and responsibly

8.1 The Board should establish a Remuneration Committee. 2.2 Comply

8.2 The Remuneration Committee should be structured so that it:

consists of a majority of independent Directors;•	

is chaired by an independent Chair; and•	

has at least three members.•	

2.2 Comply

8.3 Companies should clearly distinguish the structure  
of Non-Executive Directors’ remuneration from that  
of Executive Directors and senior executives.

2.2 and Remuneration 
Report

Comply

8.4 Companies should provide the information indicated  
in the guide to reporting on Principle 8.

2.2, Directors’ Report  
and Remuneration 

Report

Comply

1. All references are to sections of this Corporate Governance Statement unless otherwise stated.
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Note
2012

$
2011

$

Interest income 3,311,578 3,266,789 

Gain on disposal of 50% interest in WA-360-P - 29,611,847

Gain on disposal of available-for-sale financial assets 159,081 -

Total income 3,470,659 32,878,636 

Net administration costs 4 (8,873,349) (6,709,173)

Exploration expenditure written-off (16,611) (8,817,390)

Tassie Shoal Project expenditure (1,090,866) (18,204)

Share of losses of an associate (315,000) (600,000)

Foreign exchange gains/(losses) 1,353,693 (2,530,979)

(Loss)/profit before income tax (5,471,474) 14,202,890

Income tax expense 5 (226,459) (495,880)

Net (loss)/profit for the period (5,697,933) 13,707,010

Other comprehensive income

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations 351,397 -

Net fair value gains on available-for-sale financial assets - 52,445

Net fair value gains on available-for-sale financial assets reclassified to profit and loss (52,445) -

Income tax on items of other comprehensive income 5 15,734 (15,734)

Other comprehensive income for the period, net of tax 314,686 36,711

Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the period (5,383,247) 13,743,721

Basic (loss)/earnings per share 

(cents per share) 6 (1.06) 2.67

Diluted (loss)/earnings per share 

(cents per share) 6 (1.06) 2.67

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

consolidated statement of comprehensive income
for the year ended 30 June 2012
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Note
2012

$
2011

$

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 7 55,331,011 90,253,634

Other receivables 8 1,249,363 1,456,184

Total current assets 56,580,374 91,709,818

Non-current assets

Investment in associate 9 - -

Property, plant and equipment 10 1,469,809 252,870

Intangible assets 11 747,755 295,917

Exploration and evaluation costs 12 150,329,325 118,677,023

Available-for-sale financial assets 13 - 755,207

Total non-current assets 152,546,889 119,981,017

Total assets 209,127,263 211,690,835

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 14 3,128,050 1,568,530

Provisions 15 177,009 95,401

Total current liabilities 3,305,059 1,663,931

Non-current liabilities

Provisions 15 200,360 90,774

Total non-current liabilities 200,360 90,774

Total liabilities 3,505,419 1,754,705

  

Net assets 205,621,844 209,936,130

Equity

Contributed equity 16 240,861,060 240,650,334

Reserves 16 1,406,172 1,557,151

Accumulated losses 16 (36,645,388) (32,271,355)

Total equity 205,621,844 209,936,130

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

consolidated statement of financial position
as at 30 June 2012
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Issued Capital 
$

Share Based 
Payments 

Reserve 
$

Foreign 
Currency

Translation
Reserve 

$

Net Unrealised 
Gains Reserve 

$

Accumulated 
Losses 

$
Total Equity 

$
Balance at 1 July 2011 240,650,334 1,520,440 - 36,711 (32,271,355) 209,936,130

Net (loss) for the period - - - - (5,697,933) (5,697,933)

Other comprehensive  
income/(loss) - - 351,397 (36,711) - 314,686

Total comprehensive (loss) 
for the year - - 351,397 (36,711) (5,697,933) (5,383,247)

Transactions with owners in 
their capacity as owners:

Cost of share based payments - 858,235 - - - 858,235

Costs of issues (net of tax) 210,726 - - - - 210,726

Transfer of equity instruments 
expired unexercised - (1,323,900) - - 1,323,900 -

At 30 June 2012 240,861,060 1,054,775 351,397 - (36,645,388) 205,621,844

Issued Capital
$

Share Based 
Payments 

Reserve
$

Foreign 
Currency 

Translation 
Reserve

$

Net Unrealised 
Gains Reserve

$

Accumulated 
Losses

$
Total Equity

$
Balance at 1 July 2010 205,849,286 1,129,424 - - (46,320,465) 160,658,245

Net profit for the period - - - - 13,707,010 13,707,010

Other comprehensive income - - - 36,711 - 36,711

Total comprehensive income 
for the year - - - 36,711 13,707,010 13,743,721

Transactions with owners in 
their capacity as owners:

Cost of share based payments - 733,116 - - - 733,116

Shares sold by Trustee of 
Trustee Share Scheme 3,441,792 - - - - 3,441,792

Share issues 32,599,999 - - - - 32,599,999

Costs of issues (net of tax) (1,240,743) - - - - (1,240,743)

Transfer of equity instruments 
expired unexercised - (342,100) - - 342,100 -

At 30 June 2011 240,650,334 1,520,440 - 36,711 (32,271,355) 209,936,130

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

consolidated statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 30 June 2012
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consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year ended 30 June 2012

2012
$

2011
$

Cash flows from operating activities

Payments to suppliers and employees (8,353,152) (5,896,270)

Cost recovery from joint venture partners 423,484 1,088,822

Interest received 4,177,798 2,362,459

Net cash (used in) operating activities (Note 17) (3,751,870) (2,444,989)

Cash flows from investing activities

Expenditure on plant and equipment (1,308,989) (187,596)

Expenditure on intangible assets (679,788) (273,981)

Investment in associate (315,000) (600,000)

Purchase of available-for-sale financial assets (620,955) (95,207)

Expenditure on exploration tenements (30,474,957) (13,298,870)

Proceeds from sale of 50% interest in WA-360-P - 39,406,597

Proceeds from sale of available-for-sale financial assets 875,243 -

Net cash (used in) from investing activities (32,524,446) 24,950,943

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from share issues - 32,599,999

Transaction costs on issue of shares - (1,752,357)

Proceeds from sale of trustee shares - 3,441,792

Net cash from financing activities - 34,289,434

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (36,276,316) 56,795,388

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 90,253,634 35,989,225

Net foreign exchange differences 1,353,693 (2,530,979)

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period (Note 7) 55,331,011 90,253,634

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Note 1. Corporate Information
The financial report of MEO Australia Limited (‘MEO Australia’, or the ‘Company’) for the year ended 30 June 2012 was authorised  
for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Directors on 7 September 2012.

MEO Australia Limited is a company limited by shares incorporated in Australia whose shares are publicly traded on the Australian  
Stock Exchange.

The nature of operations and principal activities of the Group are described in Note 3.

Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(a) Basis of Preparation

The Financial Report is a general-purpose financial report of a ‘for-profit’ entity, which has been prepared in accordance with the 
requirements of the Corporations Act 2001, Australian Accounting Standards and other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board, and is presented in Australian dollars. The financial report has also been prepared on a historical cost basis, 
except for available-for-sale financial assets, which are recorded at fair value.

(b) Compliance with IFRS

The Financial Report complies with Australian Accounting Standards issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board and International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.

(c) New Accounting Standards and Interpretations

The Group has adopted the following new and amended Australian Accounting Standards and AASB interpretations as of 1 July 2011. 
Adoption of these standards did not have a material effect on the financial position or performance of the Group: 

Reference Title

AASB 124 (Revised) The revised AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures (December 2009).

AASB 2009-12 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards [AASBs 5, 8, 108, 110, 112, 119, 133, 137, 139, 1023 & 
1031 and Interpretations 2, 4, 16, 1039 & 1052] 

AASB 2010-4 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Annual Improvements Project  
[AASB 1, AASB 7, AASB 101, AASB 134 and Interpretation 13] 

AASB 1054 Australian Additional Disclosures

This standard is as a consequence of phase 1 of the joint Trans-Tasman Convergence project of the AASB 
and FRSB.

This standard, with AASB 2011-1 relocates all Australian specific disclosures from other standards to one 
place and revises disclosures in the following areas:

(a) Compliance with Australian Accounting Standards

(b) The statutory basis or reporting framework for financial statements

(c) Whether the entity is a for-profit or not-for-profit entity

(d) Whether the financial statements are general purpose or special purpose

(e) Audit fees

(f) Imputation credits

notes to the consolidated financial statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2012
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The following standards and interpretations have been issued by the AASB but are not yet effective for the period ending 30 June 2012. 
Adoption of these standards is not expected to have a material effect on the financial position or performance of the Group, however  
the position will be further reviewed during FY2012-2013.

Reference Title Summary
Application date  

of standard
Application date 

for Group

AASB 10 Consolidated 
Financial 
Statements 

AASB 10 establishes a new control model that applies to  
all entities. It replaces parts of AASB 127 Consolidated and 
Separate Financial Statements dealing with the accounting 
for consolidated financial statements and UIG-112 
Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities. 

The new control model broadens the situations when an 
entity is considered to be controlled by another entity and 
includes new guidance for applying the model to specific 
situations, including when acting as a manager may give 
control, the impact of potential voting rights and when 
holding less than a majority voting rights may give control.

Consequential amendments were also made to other 
standards via AASB 2011-7.

1 January 2013 1 July 2013

AASB 11 Joint 
Arrangements

AASB 11 replaces AASB 131 Interests in Joint Ventures  
and UIG-113 Jointly-controlled Entities – Non-monetary 
Contributions by Ventures. AASB 11 uses the principle of 
control in AASB 10 to define joint control, and therefore 
the determination of whether joint control exists may 
change. In addition it removes the option to account  
for jointly controlled entities (JCEs) using proportionate 
consolidation. Instead, accounting for a joint arrangement 
is dependent on the nature of the rights and obligations 
arising from the arrangement. Joint operations that give the 
venturers a right to the underlying assets and obligations 
themselves is accounted for by recognising the share of 
those assets and obligations. Joint ventures that give the 
venturers a right to the net assets is accounted for using 
the equity method.

Consequential amendments were also made to other 
standards via AASB 2011-7 and amendments to AASB 128.

1 January 2013 1 July 2013

The following standard has been issued by the AASB but is not yet effective for the period ending 30 June 2012. Adoption of this standard 
is not expected to have a material effect on the financial position or performance of the Group but may result in additional disclosures in 
respect of joint ventures. The position will be further reviewed during FY2012-2013.

Reference Title Summary
Application date of 

standard
Application date 

for Group

AASB 12 Disclosure of 
Interests in 
Other Entities

AASB 12 includes all disclosures relating to an entity’s 
interests in subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates and 
structures entities. New disclosures have been introduced 
about the judgements made by management to determine 
whether control exists, and to require summarised 
information about joint arrangements, associates and 
structured entities and subsidiaries with non-controlling 
interests.

1 January 2013 1 July 2013
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notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
for the year ended 30 June 2012

Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies continued

(c) New Accounting Standards and Interpretations continued

The following standards and interpretations have been issued by the AASB but are not yet effective for the period ending 30 June 2012. 
Adoption of these standards is not expected to have an impact on the Group, however the position will be further reviewed during  
FY2012-2013.

Reference Title

AASB 2011-9 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Presentation of Other Comprehensive Income  
[AASB 1, 5, 7, 101, 112, 120, 121, 132, 133, 134, 1039 & 1049]

AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement

AASB 119 Employee Benefits – The revised standard changes the definition of short term employee benefits.  
The distinction between short term and other long term employee benefits is now based on whether 
the benefits are expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the reporting date.

Annual Improvements 2009–2011 Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2009-2011 Cycle

AASB 9 Financial Instruments

(d) Basis of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of MEO Australia Limited and its subsidiaries as at 30 June 2012  
and the results of all the subsidiaries for the year then ended (the Group).

Subsidiaries are all those entities over which the Group has the power to govern the financial and operating policies so as to obtain benefits 
from their activities.

The financial statements of subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the parent company, using consistent accounting 
policies. In preparing the consolidated financial statements, all intercompany balances and transactions, income, expenses and profits  
and losses from intra Group transactions, have been eliminated in full. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control  
is transferred to the Group and cease to be consolidated from the date on which control is transferred out of the Group.	

(e) Significant Accounting Judgements, Estimates and Assumptions

The carrying amounts of certain assets and liabilities are often determined based on judgements, estimates and assumptions of future 
events. The key estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of certain 
assets and liabilities within the next annual reporting period are:

Share-based Payment Transactions

The Group measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with employees by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments at the 
date at which they are granted. The fair value of share options is determined by an external valuer using a binomial option pricing model, 
and using the assumptions detailed in Note 22.

Exploration and Evaluation Costs

Exploration and evaluation costs are accumulated separately for each area of interest and carried forward provided that one of the following 
conditions is met:

	such costs are expected to be recouped through successful development or sale; or•	

	exploration activities have not yet reached a stage which permits a reasonable assessment of the	existence or otherwise of economically •	
recoverable reserves, and active and significant operations in relation to the area are continuing.

Significant judgement is required in determining whether it is likely that future economic benefits will be derived from the capitalised 
exploration and evaluation expenditure. In the judgement of the Directors, at 30 June 2012 exploration activities in each area of interest 
have not yet reached a stage which permits a reasonable assessment of the existence or otherwise of economically recoverable reserves. 
Active and significant operations in relation to each area of interest are continuing and nothing has come to the attention of the Directors 
to indicate future economic benefits will not be achieved. The Directors are continually monitoring the areas of interest and are exploring 
alternatives for funding the development of areas of interest when economically recoverable reserves are confirmed. If new information 
becomes available that suggests the recovery of expenditure is unlikely, the amounts capitalised will need to be reassessed at that time.
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Going Concern

The Group is involved in the exploration and evaluation of oil and gas tenements. Further expenditure will be required on these tenements 
to ascertain whether they contain economically recoverable reserves.
 
As at 30 June 2012 the Group had cash reserves of $55,331,011. The balance of these cash reserves may not be sufficient to meet the 
Group’s planned expenditure exploration activities for the 12 months to 30 June 2013. In order to fully implement its planned exploration 
strategy the Group will require either additional funds and/or defray the exploration expenditures via farm-out. 

The 2012 financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis which contemplates the continuity of normal business activities 
and the realisation of assets and settlement of liabilities in the ordinary course of business.

To continue as a going concern the Group will either fund the planned exploration activities by using its existing cash reserves and to undertake:

	an equity raising; and/or•	

	the successful completion of a farm-out or sale of participating interests in the Group’s tenements (thereby reducing MEO’s commitment •	
to planned activities);

or initiate a substantially reduced exploration program.

Having carefully assessed the potential uncertainties relating to the likelihood of securing additional funding, the Group’s ability to effectively 
minimise exploration and operating expenditures and the opportunity to farm-out participating interests in existing permits, the Directors 
believe that the Group will continue to operate as a going concern for the foreseeable future. Therefore, the Directors consider it appropriate 
to prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis.

In the event that the assumptions underpinning the basis of preparation do not occur as anticipated, the Group will be required to implement 
plans necessary to continue to operate as a going concern. 

No adjustments have been made to the Financial Report relating to the recoverability and classification of the asset carrying amounts or the 
classification of liabilities that might be necessary should the Group not continue as a going concern.

(f) Segment Reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner which is materially consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating 
decision maker. The chief operating decision maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating 
segments, has been identified as the Board of Directors.

(g) Foreign Currency Translation

(i) Functional and presentation currency 

The Group’s consolidated financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is also the parent company’s functional currency. 
Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and items included in the financial statements of each entity are measured 
using that functional currency. The Group has elected to recycle the gain or loss that arises from the direct method of consolidation, which  
is the method the Group uses to complete its consolidation. 

(ii) Transactions and Balances

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the functional currency by applying the exchange rates ruling at the date of the 
transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rate of exchange ruling at the balance 
date. All exchange differences in the consolidated report are taken to profit or loss.

(iii) Group Companies

On consolidation the assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into Australian dollars at the rate of exchange prevailing  
at the reporting date. The exchange differences arising on translation for consolidation are recognised in other comprehensive income. 

(h) Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated statement of financial position comprise cash at bank and in hand and short term deposits 
that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and used for meeting short term cash needs. 

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as defined 
above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts.
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notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
for the year ended 30 June 2012

Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies continued

(i) Derivative Financial Instruments and Hedging

The Group uses derivative financial instruments such as forward currency contracts to hedge its risks associated with foreign currency 
fluctuations. Such derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is entered 
into and are subsequently remeasured to fair value. Certain derivatives do not qualify for hedge accounting and changes in the fair value  
are recognised immediately in profit or loss in other revenues and expenses. Derivatives are carried as assets when their fair value is positive 
and as liabilities when their fair value is negative.

Any gains or losses arising from the changes in the fair value of derivatives, except those that qualify as cash flow hedges are taken directly 
to profit or loss for the year.

The fair values of forward currency contracts are calculated by reference to current forward exchange rates for contracts with similar 
maturity profiles. 

(j) Investment and Other Financial Assets

Investments and financial assets in the scope of AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement are categorised as either 
financial assets at fair value through profit and loss, loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments, or available-for-sale financial assets. 
The classification depends on the purpose for which the investments were acquired or originated. Designation is re-evaluated at each 
reporting date, but there are restrictions on reclassifying to other categories.

When financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value, plus, in the case of assets not at fair value through profit  
or loss, directly attributable transaction costs.

Available-for-sale Financial Assets 

Available-for-sale financial assets are those non-derivative financial assets, principally equity securities that are designated as available-for-sale 
or not classified as any of financial assets at fair value through profit and loss; held-to-maturity investments or loans and receivables. After 
initial recognition, available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair value with gains or losses being recognised as a separate component 
of equity until the investment is derecognised or until the investment is determined to be impaired, at which time the cumulative gain or loss 
previously reported in equity is recognised in profit or loss. 

The fair value of investments that are actively traded in organised financial markets are determined by reference to quoted market bid prices 
at the close of business on reporting date. For investments with no active market, fair values are determined using valuation techniques. 
Such techniques include: recent arm’s length market transactions; reference to the current market value of another instrument that is 
substantially the same; discounted cash flow analysis, and option pricing models, making as much use of available and supportable market  
data as possible and keeping judgemental inputs to a minimum.

(k) Investments in Associates 

The Group’s investment in its associates is accounted for using the equity method of accounting in the consolidated financial statements  
and at cost in a subsidiary company. The associates are entities over which the Group has significant influence and that are neither 
subsidiaries nor joint ventures.

The Group generally deems it has significant influence if it has over 20 per cent of the voting rights. 

Under the equity method, investments in associates are carried in the consolidated statement of financial position at costs plus  
post-acquisition changes in the Group’s share of net assets of the associates.

The Group’s share of an associate’s profit or losses is recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, and its share of 
movements in reserves is recognised in reserves. The cumulative movements are adjusted against the carrying amount of the investment. 

(l) Plant and Equipment

Plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line 
basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets which range from four to 15 years.

Impairment

The carrying values of plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying 
value may not be recoverable.
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For an asset that does not generate largely independent cash inflows, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit  
to which the asset belongs. Impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset exceeds its estimated recoverable amount. The asset  
is written down to its recoverable amount.

The recoverable amount of plant and equipment is the greater of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use,  
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments  
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.

An item of plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the 
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal 
proceeds and the carrying amount of the item) is included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income in the period the item  
is derecognised.

(m) Methanol and LNG Project Costs

Research and feasibility costs are expensed as incurred. Development expenditure incurred on a project is carried forward when its future 
recoverability can reasonably be regarded as assured.

Following the initial recognition of the development expenditure, the cost model is applied requiring the asset to be carried at cost less any 
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Any expenditure carried forward is amortised over the period of expected 
future revenue from the related project.

The carrying value of development costs is reviewed for impairment annually when the asset is not yet in use, or more frequently when  
an indicator of impairment arises during the reporting year indicating that the carrying value may not be recoverable.

(n) Exploration and Evaluation Costs

Exploration and evaluation expenditure is carried at cost. If indication of impairment arises, the recoverable amount is estimated and  
an impairment loss is recognised to the extent that the recoverable amount is lower than the carrying amount.

Exploration and evaluation costs are accumulated separately for each current area of interest and carried forward provided that one  
of the following conditions is met:

	such costs are expected to be recouped through successful development or sale; or•	

	exploration activities have not yet reached a stage which permits a reasonable assessment of the	existence or otherwise of economically •	
recoverable reserves, and active and significant operations in relation to the area are continuing.

Impairment of exploration and evaluation costs

To the extent that capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure is determined not to be recoverable in the future, profits/(losses)  
and net assets will be varied in the period in which this determination is made.

Farm-outs

The Group will account for farm-out arrangements as follows:

	the Group will not record any expenditure made by the farminee on its behalf;•	

	the Group will not recognise a gain or loss on the farm-out arrangement but rather will redesignate any costs previously capitalised  •	
in relation to the whole interest as relating to the partial interest retained; and

	any cash consideration to be received will be credited against costs previously capitalised in relation to the whole interest with any excess •	
to be accounted for by the Group as gain on disposal.

(o) Intangible Assets

Intangible assets acquired are measured at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses. 

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised over the useful life and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the 
intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life is reviewed at least 
annually. Changes in the expected useful life are accounted for by changing the amortisation period or method, which is a change in an 
accounting estimate. Amortisation expense is recognised in profit or loss in the expense category consistent with the function of the 
intangible asset.
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notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
for the year ended 30 June 2012

Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies continued

(p) Loans and Receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.  
They are included in current assets, except for those with maturities greater than 12 months after the balance date which are classified  
as non-current assets. Loans and receivables are included in receivables in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Recognition and Derecognition

Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade date, the date on which the Group commits to purchase  
or sell the asset.

Subsequent Measurement

Loans and receivables are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Impairment

The Group assesses at each balance date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired.

(q) Interests in Joint Ventures 

Jointly controlled assets	

A jointly controlled asset involves joint control and offers joint ownership by the Group and other venturers of assets contributed  
to or acquired for the purposes of the joint venture, without the formation of a corporation, partnership or entity.

The Group accounts for its share of the jointly controlled assets, and liabilities it has incurred, its share of any liabilities jointly incurred  
with other ventures, income from the sale or use of its share of the joint venture’s output, together with its share of the expenses  
incurred by the joint venture, and any expenses it incurs in relation to its interest in the joint venture.

(r) Leases

The determination of whether an arrangement is or contains a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement and requires an 
assessment of whether the fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use a specific asset or assets and the arrangement conveys  
a right to use the asset.

Leases under which the lessor retains substantially all of the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset are classified as operating leases. 
Operating lease payments are recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the lease 
term.

(s) Trade and Other Payables

Trade and other payables are carried at amortised cost and represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the end 
of the financial year that are unpaid and arise when the Group becomes obliged to make future payments in respect of the purchase of the 
goods and services.

(t) Provisions 

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, and it is probable that 
an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the 
amount of the obligation.

When the Group expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, for example under an insurance contract, the reimbursement is 
recognised as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense relating to any provision is presented  
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income net of any reimbursement.

Provisions are measured at the present value of management’s best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation  
at the balance date. If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash 
flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the 
liability. The increase in the provision resulting from the passage of time is recognised in finance costs.
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Employee Leave Benefits

Wages, Salaries, Annual Leave and Sick Leave

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits and annual leave entitlements expected to be settled within 12 months  
of the reporting date are recognised in provisions in respect of employees’ service up to the reporting date. They are measured at the 
amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. Liabilities for non-accumulating sick leave are recognised when the leave  
is taken and are measured at the rates paid or payable.

Long Service Leave

The liability for long service leave is recognised in the provision for employee benefits and measured as the present value of expected  
future payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting date using the projected unit credit method. 
Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels, experience of employee departures, and periods of service. Expected future 
payments are discounted using market yields at the reporting date in national government bonds with terms to maturity and currencies that 
match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

(u) Share-based Payment Transactions 

The Group provides benefits to employees (including Directors) of, and consultants to, the Group in the form of share-based payment 
transactions, whereby services are rendered in exchange for shares or rights over shares (‘equity-settled transactions’). The Board adopted 
the Long Term Incentive Plan on 13 September 2011.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is measured by reference to the fair value at the date at which they are granted. The fair value of 
options and performance rights with market based performance criteria is determined by an external valuer using a binomial option pricing 
model. The fair value of performance plan rights with non-market performance criteria is determined by reference to the Company’s share 
price at date of grant.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which the 
performance conditions are fulfilled, ending on the date on which the recipient becomes fully entitled to the award (‘vesting date’).

The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at each reporting date until vesting date reflects (i) the extent to which  
the vesting period has expired and (ii) the number of awards that, in the opinion of the Directors, based on the best available information at 
balance date, will ultimately vest. No adjustment is made for the likelihood of market conditions being met as the effect of these conditions 
is included in determination of fair value at grant date. The charge or credit for the period represents the movement in cumulative expense 
recognised as at the beginning and end of the period.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for awards where vesting is conditional upon a market condition. 

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been modified.  
In addition, an expense is recognised for any increase in the value of the transaction as a result of the modification, as measured at the  
date of modification. 

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet recognised 
for the award is recognised immediately. However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award, and designated as a replacement 
award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and new award are treated as if they were a modification of the original award, as 
described in the previous paragraph. 

The dilutive effect, if any, of outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per share.

(v) Contributed Equity

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity  
as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

(w) Revenue

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue can be reliably 
measured. Specific recognition criteria must also to be met.

Interest income

Revenue is recognised as the interest accrues using the effective interest method.
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Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies continued

(x) Income Tax 

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid  
to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantially enacted  
by the reporting date.

Deferred income tax is provided on all temporary differences at balance date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying 
amounts for financial reporting purposes. 

Deferred income tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except: 

	where the deferred income tax liability arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business •	
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; or

	when the taxable temporary difference is associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates or interests in joint ventures, and the •	
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse  
in the foreseeable future. 

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry-forward of unused tax assets and unused tax losses,  
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, and the  
carry-forward of unused tax assets and unused tax losses can be used, except: 

	where the deferred income tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of an asset or •	
liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor 
taxable profit or loss; and 

	when the deductible temporary difference are associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates or interests in joint ventures, in which •	
case a deferred tax asset is only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable 
future and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be applied. 

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each balance date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable 
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred income tax asset to be utilised. 

Unrecognised deferred income tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and are recognised to the extent that it is has become 
probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when the asset is realised  
or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance date. 

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset only if a legally enforceable right of set off exists to set off current tax assets against 
current liabilities and the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxable authority.

Income taxes relating to items recognised directly in equity are recognised in equity and not in the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income. 

Tax Consolidation Legislation

MEO Australia Limited and its wholly owned subsidiaries have implemented the tax consolidation legislation as of 1 July 2004.

The head entity, MEO Australia Limited and the controlled entities in the tax consolidated group continue to account for their own current 
and deferred tax amounts. The Group has applied the group allocation approach in determining the appropriate amount of current tax  
and deferred taxes to allocate to members of the tax consolidated group.

In addition to its own current and deferred tax amounts, MEO Australia Limited also recognises the current tax liabilities (or assets) and the 
deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and unused tax credits assumed from controlled entities in the tax consolidated group.

Assets or liabilities arising under tax funding agreements with the tax consolidated entities are recognised as amounts receivable from  
or payable to other entities in the Group. 

Any difference between the amounts assumed and amounts receivable or payable under the tax funding agreement are recognised  
as a contribution to (or distribution from) wholly owned tax consolidated entities.
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(y) Goods and Services Tax (GST) 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of GST, except receivables and payables which are stated with GST included. Where GST 
incurred on a purchase of goods or services is not recoverable from the taxation authority, the GST is recognised as part of the cost of 
acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item as applicable. 

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or payables in the 
consolidated statement of financial position. 

Cash flows are included in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows on a gross basis and the GST component of cash flows arising from 
investing and financing activities, which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is classified as operating cash flows. 

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority. 

(z) Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share is calculated as net profit/(loss) attributable to members divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares. 

Diluted earnings per share is calculated as net profit/(loss) attributable to members divided by the weighted average number of ordinary 
shares and dilutive potential ordinary shares.

(aa) Parent Entity Financial Information

The financial information for the parent entity, MEO Australia Limited, disclosed in Note 25 has been prepared on the same basis  
as the consolidated financial statements, except as set out below.

Investments in Subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less accumulated impairment losses in the financial statements of MEO Australia Limited.

Note 3. Segment Information 
The Group’s reportable segments are confined to development of methanol and LNG projects and petroleum exploration. 

The following tables represent revenue, profit/(loss) information and certain asset and liability information regarding operating segments  
for the years ended 30 June 2012 and 30 June 2011.

Business Segments
Methanol and LNG 

Development
Petroleum 
Exploration Consolidated

2012
$

2011
$

2012
$

2011
$

2012
$

2011
$

Revenue:

Segment income - - - 29,611,847 - 29,611,847

Interest and other income 3,470,659 3,266,789

Total consolidated income 3,470,659 32,878,636

Result:

Segment profit/(loss) (1,090,866) (18,204) (16,611) 20,794,457 (1,107,477) 20,776,253

Non-segment revenue/(expenses):

– Interest and other income 3,470,659 3,266,789

– Net administration costs (8,873,349) (6,709,173)

Share of losses of an associate (315,000) (600,000)

Foreign exchange gains (losses) 1,353,693 (2,530,979)

(Loss)/profit before income tax (5,471,474) 14,202,890

Income tax expense (226,459) (495,880)

Net (loss)/profit for the year (5,697,933) 13,707,010

Further to the information disclosed above, the Board of Directors currently receives Consolidated Statement of Financial Position and 
Statement of Comprehensive Income information that is prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards therefore there  
is no additional information to disclose. 
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notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
for the year ended 30 June 2012

Note 3. Segment Information continued
The Board does not currently receive segment Statement of Financial Position and Statement of Comprehensive Income information other 
than that presented above. The Board manages exploration activities of each permit area through review and approval of budgets, joint 
venture cash calls and other operational information. Information regarding exploration expenditure capitalised for each area is contained  
in Note 12. 

Note 4. Net Administration Expenses 

     Consolidated
2012 

$
2011

$

Consultants’ fees and expenses 1,851,125 1,974,536

Directors’ remuneration (excluding share based payments) 310,650 284,360

Salaries and on-costs 4,040,918 2,001,606

Share based payments 858,235 733,116

Administration and other expenses 1,078,645 624,357

Audit costs 90,685 86,700

Securities exchange, share registry and reporting costs 218,377 235,346

Operating lease expenses 451,248 216,214

Investor relations and corporate promotion costs 237,381 83,328

Travel costs 882,183 607,818

Depreciation and amortisation expense 428,062 139,170

Gross administration costs   10,447,509 6,986,551

Less allocation to exploration activities (1,574,160) (277,378)

Net administration costs 8,873,349 6,709,173

Note 5. Income Tax
Statement of Comprehensive Income
Current income tax

Current income tax credit/(expense) 12,099,095 (10,726,043)

Tax losses not recognised as not probable (1,683,621) -

Tax losses recognised and utilised - 7,105,442

10,415,474 (3,620,601)

Deferred income tax

Relating to origination and reversal of temporary differences (10,641,933) 3,124,721

(10,641,933) 3,124,721

Income tax expense reported in the statement of comprehensive income (226,459) (495,880)

Statement of Changes in Equity
Deferred income tax related to items charged or credited directly to equity

Unrealised gain on available-for-sale investments - (15,734)

Unrealised gain on available-for-sale investments reclassified to profit and loss 15,734 -

Share issue costs - 525,707

Not recognised as not probable - (315,424)

Amount recognised in respect of prior years share issue costs now considered probable 210,725 301,331

Income tax benefit reported in equity 226,459 495,880
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     Consolidated
2012 

$
2011

$

Tax Reconciliation
A reconciliation between tax expense and the product of accounting profit before

income tax multiplied by the Group’s applicable income tax rate is as follows:

Accounting profit/(loss) before tax (5,471,474) 14,202,890

At the Group’s statutory 30% tax rate (2011: 30%) 1,641,442 (4,260,867)

Taxable gain on farm-in of WA-360-P - (3,112,940)

Share based payment expense (257,471) (219,935)

Non-deductible expenses (7,140) (7,580)

Tax losses recognised and utilised - 7,105,442

Tax losses not brought to account (1,603,290) -

Income tax expense reported in the statement of comprehensive income (226,459) (495,880)

Statement of 
Financial Position Income Statement
2012

$
2011

$
2012

$
2011

$

Deferred income tax at 30 June relates to the following:

Consolidated

Deferred tax liabilities

Interest receivable (94,940) (354,805) 259,865 (271,299)

Available-for-sale investments - (15,734) - -

Exploration and evaluation costs (45,279,587) (34,081,759) (11,197,828) 3,183,513

Gross deferred income tax liabilities (45,374,527) (34,452,298)

Deferred tax assets

Investment in associate 274,500 180,000 94,500 180,000

Accruals 309,481 165,311 144,170 15,209

Provisions 113,211 55,853 57,358 17,300

Share issue costs 315,867 827,038 - -

Temporary differences not recognised as not probable - (315,424) - -

Tax losses brought to account to offset net deferred tax liability 44,361,468 33,539,520 10,415,476 (3,620,603)

Gross deferred income tax assets 45,374,527 34,452,298 

Net deferred tax asset - - 

Deferred tax expense (226,459) (495,880)
				  

Tax Consolidation

(i) Members of the tax consolidated group

MEO Australia Limited and its 100 per cent owned Australian resident subsidiaries formed a tax consolidated group with effect  
from 1 July 2004. MEO Australia Limited is the head entity of the tax consolidated group.

(ii) Tax effect accounting by members of the tax consolidated group

Measurement method adopted under UIG 1052 Tax Consolidated Accounting 

The head entity and the controlled entities in the tax consolidated group continue to account for their own current and deferred tax 
amounts. The Group has applied the group allocation approach in determining the appropriate amount of current taxes and deferred  
taxes to allocate to members of the tax consolidated group. The current and deferred tax amounts are measured in a systematic manner  
that is consistent with the principles in AASB 112 Income Taxes. 

In addition to its own current and deferred tax amounts, the head entity also recognises current tax liabilities (or assets) and the deferred  
tax assets arising from unused tax losses and unused tax credits assumed from controlled entities in the tax consolidated group.
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Note 5. Income Tax continued

Tax Losses

At balance date, the Group has estimated unused gross tax losses of $153.0 million (2011: $131.5 million) that are available to offset 
against future taxable profits subject to continuing to meet relevant statutory tests. To the extent that it does not offset a net deferred tax 
liability, a deferred tax asset has not been recognised in the accounts for these unused losses because it is not probable that future taxable 
profit will be available to use against such losses. 

Note 6. Earnings/(Loss) Per Share
Basic earnings/(loss) per share amounts are calculated by dividing net loss for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent  
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.

Diluted earnings/(loss) per share amounts are calculated by dividing the net loss attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent by the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year plus the weighted average number of ordinary shares that would 
be issued on the conversion of all the dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares. 

For the year ended 30 June 2012 and for the comparative period, there are no dilutive potential ordinary shares as conversion of share 
options would decrease the loss per share and hence are non-dilutive as the share options were out of the money at year end.

The following data was used in the calculations of basic and diluted loss per share:		           

Consolidated
2012

$
2011

$

Net (loss)/profit (5,697,933) 13,707,010

Shares Shares

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculation of basic and diluted loss per share 539,913,260 513,118,741

There have been no transactions involving ordinary shares or potential ordinary shares that would significantly change the number  
of ordinary shares or potential ordinary shares outstanding between the reporting date and the date of completion of these financial 
statements. 

Note 7. Cash and Cash Equivalents
          Consolidated

2012
$

2011
$

Cash at bank and in hand 4,362,769 160,050

Short term deposits 50,968,242 90,093,584

55,331,011 90,253,634

Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank rates.

Short term deposits are made for varying maturities depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest  
at the respective short term deposit rates. 
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Note 8. Trade and Other Receivables
Consolidated

2012
$

2011
$

Goods and services tax refund 175,147 59,430

Interest receivable 316,465 1,182,684

Other 757,751 214,070

1,249,363 1,456,184

At balance date, there are no trade receivables that are past due but not impaired. Due to the short term nature of these receivables, their 
carrying value approximates fair value. Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 30-90 day terms. Details regarding  
the credit risk of current receivables are disclosed in Note 18.

Note 9. Investment in Associate

  Consolidated
2012

$
2011

$

Investment – unlisted entity - -

Movements in the carrying value of the Group’s investment in associate

Investment at 1 July 2011 - -

Investment in associate 915,000 600,000

Cumulative share of losses after tax (915,000) (600,000)

Investment at 30 June 2012 - -
	

Note 10. Property, Plant and Equipment 
Plant and Equipment

 Consolidated
2012

$
2011

$

Plant and Equipment

At cost 688,542 334,515

Accumulated depreciation (198,690) (163,451)

489,852 171,064

Motor Vehicles

At cost 264,455 90,184

Accumulated depreciation (33,139) (8,378)

231,316 81,806

Leasehold Improvements

At cost 767,837 110,659

Accumulated depreciation (19,196) (110,659)

748,641 -

Total Property, Plant and Equipment 1,469,809 252,870
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Note 10. Property, Plant and Equipment continued

Plant and Equipment continued

Consolidated
2012

$
2011

$

Movement in Plant and Equipment

Net carrying amount at beginning of year 171,064 132,662

Additions 460,113 97,412

Disposals (106,086) -

Depreciation (35,239) (59,010)

489,852 171,064

Movement in Motor Vehicles

Net carrying amount at beginning of year 81,806 -

Additions 174,271 90,184

Depreciation (24,761) (8,378)

231,316 81,806

Leasehold Improvements

Net carrying amount at beginning of year - 411

Additions 767,837 -

Depreciation (19,196) (411)

748,641 -

Net carrying amount at end of year 1,469,809 252,870
				  

The useful life of the plant and equipment estimated for 2012 and 2011 is five to 15 years.
The useful life of the motor vehicle estimated for 2012 and 2011 is eight years.
The useful life of the leasehold estimated for 2012 and 2011 is five years.

Note 11. Intangible Assets
Consolidated

2012
$

2011
$

Software licences at cost 1,184,834 490,215

Accumulated amortisation (437,079) (194,298)

747,755 295,917

Movement in Intangibles

Net carrying amounts at beginning of year 295,917 93,307

Additions 694,618 273,981

Amortisation (242,780) (71,371)

Net carrying amount at end of year 747,755 295,917

The useful life of the intangibles is estimated as four years.
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Note 12. Exploration and Evaluation Costs
Consolidated

2012
$

2011
$

Balance at beginning of year 118,677,023 124,217,572

Expenditure for the year 30,975,574 8,000,433

Exploration properties/licences acquired 676,728 5,071,159

Expenditure written-off during the year - (18,612,141)

150,329,325 118,677,023
				  

Capitalised exploration and evaluation costs at 30 June 2012 are $150,329,325 which relate to NT/P68 ($112,810,322), WA-360-P 
($2,219,675), WA-361-P ($998, 096), AC/P50 & AC/P51 & AC/P53 ($8,128,276), WA-454-P ($6,446,584), Seruway and South Madura 
Production Sharing Contracts in Indonesia ($16,794,928) and Gulf of Thailand Concession G2/48 ($2,931,444). 

Capitalised exploration and evaluation costs at 30 June 2011 are $118,677,023 which relate to NT/P68 ($112,963,358), AC/P50 and AC/P51 
($642,506), Seruway and South Madura Production Sharing Contracts in Indonesia ($5,071,159). In 2011, the Artemis-1 dry hole result 
in WA-360-P and exploration in other permits resulted in exploration write-offs totalling $18,612,141.

Note 13. Available-for-sale Financial Assets
Consolidated

2012
$

2011
$

At fair value

Shares – Australian listed - 755,207

Note 14. Trade and Other Payables
Consolidated

2012
$

2011
$

Trade and other payables 3,128,050 1,568,530

Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30 day terms.
				  

Note 15. Provisions
Consolidated

2012
$

2011
$

Current

Employee benefits

Annual leave entitlement 177,009 95,401

Non-current

Employee benefits

Long service leave entitlement 200,360 90,774
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Note 16. Contributed Equity and Reserves			 
	   

Consolidated
2012

Shares
2012

$
2011

Shares
2011

$

Issued and paid up capital

Ordinary shares 539,913,260 240,861,060 539,913,260 240,650,334

Movements in Ordinary Shares 
Balance at beginning of year 539,913,260 240,650,334 467,098,037 205,849,286

Share Issues:

Placement of shares at $0.52 per share - - 62,692,305 32,599,999

Transaction costs (net of tax) - 210,726 - (1,240,743)

Shares sold by Trustee of Trustee Stock Scheme - - 10,122,918 3,441,792

Balance at end of year 539,913,260 240,861,060 539,913,260 240,650,334
	
(a) Terms and Condition of Ordinary Shares

Ordinary shares entitle their holder to receive dividends as declared. In the event of winding up the Company, ordinary shares entitle their 
holder to participate in the proceeds from the sale of all surplus assets in proportion to the number of and amounts paid up or which should 
have been paid up on shares held. Each ordinary share entitles the holder to one vote, either in person or by proxy, at a meeting of the 
Company. Ordinary shares issued during the year and since the end of the year, from date of issue rank equally with the ordinary shares  
on issue.

(b) Share Options

At 30 June 2012 18,855,000 options over unissued shares granted to Directors, executives and consultants were outstanding. The options 
are granted pursuant to the Senior Executives and Officers Option Plan, details of which are set out in Note 22.

(c) Capital Management

Capital is defined as equity. When managing capital, management’s objective is to ensure the entity continues as a going concern as well  
as to maintain optimal returns to shareholders and benefits of other stakeholders. All methods of returning funds to shareholders outside  
of dividend payments or raising funds are considered within the context of the Company’s objectives. 

The Group will seek to raise further capital, if required, as and when necessary to meet its projected operations. The decision of how the 
Group will raise future capital will depend on market conditions existing at that time. It is the Group’s plan that this capital will be raised by 
any one or a combination of the following: placement of shares, pro-rata issue to shareholders, the exercise of outstanding options, and/or  
a further issue of shares to the public. Should these methods not be considered to be viable, or in the best interests of shareholders, then it 
would be the Company’s intention to meet its obligations by either partial sale of the Company’s interests or farm-out, the latter course of 
action being part of the Company’s overall strategy.

Consolidated
2012

$
2011

$

Accumulated Losses
Balance at beginning of year (32,271,355) (46,320,465)

Net (loss)/profit for the year (5,697,933) 13,707,010

Transfer from share based payments reserve – cost of equity instruments expired unexercised� 1,323,900 342,100

Balance at end of year (36,645,388) (32,271,355)

The Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements.
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Consolidated
*Share 
Based 

Payments 
Reserve

$

**Net 
Unrealised 

Gains 
Reserve

$

***Foreign 
Currency 

Translation 
Reserve

$
Total

$

Other Reserves
At 1 July 2010 1,129,424 - - 1,129,424

Cost of share based payments 733,116 - - 733,116

Cost of unvested expired equity instruments transferred to accumulated 
losses (342,100) - - (342,100)

Net gains on available-for-sale investments - 52,445 - 52,445

Income tax on items taken directly to or transferred from equity - (15,734) - (15,734)

At 30 June 2011 1,520,440 36,711 - 1,557,151

Cost of share based payments 858,235 - - 858,235

Cost of unvested expired equity instruments transferred  
to accumulated losses (1,323,900) - - (1,323,900)

Net gains on available-for-sale investments reclassified to profit and loss - (52,445) - (52,445)

Income tax on items taken directly to or transferred from equity reclassified 
to profit and loss - 15,734 - 15,734

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations - - 351,397 351,397

At 30 June 2012 1,054,775 - 351,397 1,406,172

* 	 Share based payments reserve
	 The share based payment reserve is used to record the value of share based payments provided to employees and contractors, including KMPs as part  

of their remuneration. Refer to Note 22 for further details of the plan.

**	 Net unrealised gain reserve
	 This reserve records movements in fair value of available-for-sale financial assets.

*** Foreign currency translation reserve
	 The foreign currency translation reserve is used to record exchange differences for the translation of the financial statements of foreign subsidiaries.  

It is also used to record the effect of hedging net investments in foreign operations.
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Note 17. Cash Flow Statement Reconciliation 
Reconciliation of Net Loss After Tax to Net Cash Flows Used in Operating Activities

Consolidated
2012

$
2011

$

Net (loss)/profit (5,697,933) 13,707,010

Adjustments for:

Gain on disposal of 50% interest in WA-360-P - (29,611,847)

Gain on disposal of available-for-sale financial assets (159,081) -

Share of losses of an associate 315,000 600,000

Exploration expenditure written-off 16,611 8,817,390

Depreciation and amortisation 428,062 139,170

Share based payments 858,235 733,116

Exchange rate adjustments (1,353,693) 2,530,979

Deferred income tax expense 226,459 495,880

Changes in assets and liabilities

(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables 755,969 (132,679)

(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables 667,307 218,328

(Decrease)/increase in provisions 191,194 57,664

Net cash flows (used in) operating activities (3,751,870) (2,444,989)

Note 18. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies
The Group’s principal financial instruments, other than derivatives, comprise cash and short term deposits, the main purpose of which is  
to finance the Group’s operations. The Group has various other financial assets and liabilities such as trade receivables and trade payables, 
which arise directly from its operations. The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are credit risk, interest rate risk, 
exchange rate risk and liquidity risk. The Board of Directors has reviewed each of those risks and has determined that they are not significant 
in terms of the Group’s current activities. The Group also enters into derivative financial instruments, principally forward currency contracts. 
The purpose is to manage the currency risks arising from the Group’s operations. Speculative trading in derivatives is not permitted. There 
are no derivatives outstanding at 30 June 2012 (2011: $Nil).

Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the basis of measurement and  
the basis on which income and expenses are recognised, in respect of each class of financial asset, financial liability and equity instrument 
are disclosed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements.

Credit Risk

The Group trades only with recognised, creditworthy third parties. Receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the results 
being that the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant.

Credit risk arises from the financial assets of the Group, which comprise cash and cash equivalents and trade and other receivables.  
The Group’s exposure to credit risk arises from potential default of the counter party, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying 
amount of these instruments. No collateral is held as security. Exposure at balance date is the carrying value as disclosed in each  
applicable note.
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Interest Rate Risk

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s cash and cash equivalents with a floating 
interest rate:

Consolidated
2012

$
2011

$

Cash and cash equivalents 55,331,011 90,253,634
				  
Short term deposits are made for varying periods depending on the immediate cash requirements of the group, and earn interest at the 
respective short term deposit rates.

Taking into account past performances, future expectations economic forecasts, and management’s knowledge and experience of the 
financial markets, the Group believes that -/+ 1.0 per cent from the year-end Australian rates of 4.5 per cent (2011: 6.0 per cent) represents 
the ‘reasonably possible’ movement of interest rates over the next 12 months. The following is the impact of this on the profit or loss with 
all other variables including foreign exchange rates held constant:

Consolidated
Net Profit

2012
$

2011
$

+1.0% (100 basis points) increase/decrease in interest rates with all other variables held constant      365,000      654,000

-1.0% (100 basis points) increase/decrease in interest rates with all other variables held constant      (365,000)      (654,000)
		
There is no impact on equity other than the above net profit sensitivities on retained earnings/accumulated losses.

Foreign Currency Risk

The Group’s exposure to exchange rate risk relates primarily to trade payables and cash denominated in US dollars. Where a payable is 
significant, US dollars are purchased on incurring the liability or commitment. The Group also manages its currency risk through the active 
management of its exposures. This includes entering into various forward currency contracts throughout the year. At balance date and  
at 30 June 2011, all the contracts were closed.

The Group’s exposure to its unhedged financial assets and liabilities is as follows:

Consolidated
2012
US$

2011
US$

Cash 18,786,807 26,570,176

Total financial assets 18,786,807 26,570,176

  

Trade creditors     505,182     142,636

Total financial liabilities     505,182     142,636

The following sensitivity analysis is based on the foreign currency risk exposure in existence at the balance date, with all other variables 
remaining constant:

Consolidated
Net Profit

2012
$

2011
$

10% strengthening in AUD/USD rate (for 2012 from 1.0191 to 1.12101 and for 2011 from 1.0739  
to 1.1813) with all other variables held constant (1,714,000) (2,249,000)

10% weakening in AUD/USD rate (for 2012 from 1.0191 to 0.91719 and for 2011 from 1.0739  
to 0.96651) with all other variables held constant 2,095,000 2,749,000

A sensitivity of 10 per cent has been selected as this is considered reasonable given the current level of exchange rates and the volatility 
observed both on a five year historical basis and market expectations for potential future movement.

There is no impact on equity other than the above net profit sensitivities on retained earnings/accumulated losses.
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Note 18. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies continued

Liquidity Risk

The Group’s exposure to financial obligations relating to corporate administration and exploration expenditure, are subject to budgeting  
and reporting controls, to ensure that such obligations do not exceed cash held and known cash inflows for a period of at least one year. 

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the Board of Directors, which has built in an appropriate liquidity risk framework 
for the management of the Group’s short, medium and longer term funding and liquidity management requirements. The Group manages 
liquidity risk by maintaining adequate equity funding through the monitoring of future cash flow forecasts of its operations, which reflect 
management’s expectations of the settlement of financial assets and liabilities.

The Group has limited financial resources and will need to raise additional capital from time to time and such fund raisings may be subject  
to factors beyond the control of the Company and its directors. When MEO requires further funding for its programs, then it is the 
Company’s intention that the additional funds will be raised by any one or a combination of the following: placement of shares, pro-rata 
issue to shareholders, the exercise of outstanding options, and/or a further issue of shares to the public. Should these methods not be 
considered to be viable, or in the best interests of shareholders, then it would be the Company’s intention to meet its obligations by either 
partial sale of the Company’s interests or farm-out, the latter course of action being part of the Company’s overall strategy.

Maturity Analysis

At balance date, the Group holds $3,128,050 (2011: $1,568,530) of financial liabilities consisting of trade and other payables. All financial 
liabilities have a contractual maturity of 30 days.

Fair Values

The aggregate net fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are the same as the carrying values in the statement of financial position.

Note 19. Commitments and Contingencies 
Commitments

Consolidated
2012 2011

AUD$ AUD$

Operating Lease

Future minimum rentals payable under operating 

lease for office premises at balance date:

Payable not later than one year 490,802 -

Payable later than one year but not later than five years 1,732,732 -

2,223,534 -

Exploration Commitments

NT/P68 (MEO 50%)

In February 2010, NT/P68 was renewed for a further five years with the minimum commitment being the three year primary term ending 
26th April 2013. MEO Australia, through its wholly-owned subsidiaries, TSP Arafura Petroleum Pty Ltd and Oz-Exoil Pty Ltd, holds a  
50 per cent interest in the NT/P68. 
 
The Year 3 Permit obligation (ending 26 March 2013) consists of seismic interpretation studies, however, during Permit Year 3 Eni will  
drill and 100 per cent fund exploration well Heron South-l which will meet work program obligations. 

WA-360-P (MEO 62.5%)

WA-360-P was renewed for a further five year period with the minimum commitment being the three year primary term ending 5 March 
2015. Permit Year 1 (ending 5 March 2013) obligation is 363km2 of existing multi-client 3D seismic data. The Joint Venture acquired the 
Foxhound 3D seismic dataset during FY2012, thereby meeting the Permit Year 1 work program. Permit Year 2 (ending 5 March 2014) 
consists of seismic reprocessing and Permit Year 3 (ending 5 March 2015) consists of geotechnical studies.  
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WA-361-P (MEO 50%)

In January 2011, WA-361-P was renewed for a further five years with a minimum commitment being the three year primary term ending  
30 January 2014. Permit Year 2 (ending 30 January 2013) obligation is 150km2 3D seismic and geotechnical studies. During FY2012, the 
Joint Venture purchased the 363km2 Zeus multi-client survey which fulfils the Permit Year 2 work program. Permit Year 3 (ending 30 January 
2014) consists of 3D seismic interpretation and geotechnical studies.  

AC/50 and AC/P51 (MEO 100%)

AC/P50 and AC/P51 have entered into the secondary term (permit years 4-6) of their six year permit term. On commencement of the fourth 
permit year, the secondary work program becomes guaranteed on a year by year basis. Once a permit year has commenced all work 
specified for that year must be completed. The work program for Permit Year 4 (ending 21 July 2013) consists of geotechnical studies.

AC/P53 (MEO 100%)

In July 2011, MEO was awarded AC/P53 for a six year period with a minimum commitment being the three year primary term ending  
6 July 2014. Permit Year 1 obligation (ending 6 July 2012) is 825km2 3D seismic reprocessing and geotechnical studies and the Permit  
Year 2 obligation (ending 6 July 2013) is 150km long offset 2D seismic survey. MEO have advanced/fulfilled the Year 2 obligation by 
completing the 170km 2D Zeppelin seismic survey. Permit Year 3 (ending 6 July 2014) work program consists of geotechnical studies. 

WA-454-P

In June 2011, MEO was awarded WA-454-P for a six year period with a minimum commitment being the three year primary term ending  
8 June 2014. In February 2012 MEO received approval from the designated authority to vary the minimum work program with the Permit 
Year 1 work program (ending 8 June 2012) – 583km2 3D seismic survey; Permit Year 2 work program (ending 8 June 2013) is geological 
studies, and Permit Year 3 work program (ending 8 June 2014) is geological studies. MEO has fulfilled the Year 1 obligation by completing 
the 601km2 Floyd 3D seismic survey. 

Consolidated
2012 2011
US$ US$

Seruway Production Sharing Contract (MEO 100%) 

Estimated cost of minimum work requirements contracted for under exploration permit  
is estimated at balance date

Payable not later than one year 10,000,000 3,500,000

Payable later than one year but not later than five years - 10,000,000

10,000,000 13,500,000
		

South Madura Production Sharing Contract (PSC)(MEO 90%)

In June 2012, MEO received Indonesian Government approval for the transfer of 60 per cent interest in the South Madura PSC and assumed 
operatorship of the PSC. 

The ninth contract year of the South Madura PSC ends 13 October 2012 and the tenth and final contract year of the PSC ends on  
13 October 2013. At the conclusion of the tenth contract year, there is an obligation to relinquish the South Madura PSC unless a Plan  
of Development (POD) has been submitted. The work program for Year 9 consists of two exploration wells, seismic acquisition and processing  
and geological and geophysical studies while the Year 10 program consists of four wells and the completion/lodgement of a Plan of 
Development. Discussions have commenced with the regulator for approval of an amended work program for 2012 and a preliminary  
work program and budget for 2013. MEO is not able to complete the 2012 and 2013 work programs due to lack of progress when  
the PSC was operated by other companies and is working with BPMIGAS/MIGAS to develop a way forward.
				  
Gulf of Thailand Concession G2/48 (MEO 50%)

Subject to receiving Thai Government approval, MEO will acquire a 50 per cent interest in the Gulf of Thailand Block G2/48 Concession from  
Pearl Oil Offshore Limited. MEO will reimburse Pearl for 50 per cent of the previously acquired 3D seismic survey and pay 66.6 per cent of  
the 2012 Commitment Well – capped at a gross cost of US$5.0 million, above which MEO will pay its 50 per cent participating interest.

There are no material commitments or contingencies other than as set out in this Note.

MEO’s share of total committed exploration expenditure in estimated to be $20.0 million.
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Note 20. Related Party Disclosures
Subsidiaries

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of MEO Australia Limited, and the following subsidiaries. 

Country of 
Incorporation

Equity
2012

%

Interest
2011

%

North West Shelf Exploration Pty Ltd Australia 100    100

Methanol Australia Pty Ltd Australia 100    100

LNG Australia Pty Ltd Australia 100    100

TSP Arafura Petroleum Pty Ltd Australia 100    100

Oz-Exoil Pty Ltd Australia 100    100

Innovative Energy Pty Ltd*** Australia 100    100

Offshore Methanol Pty Ltd Australia 100    100

Gastech Systems Pty Ltd Australia 100    100

Vulcan Exploration Pty Ltd Australia 100    100

MEO International Pty Ltd* Australia 100    100

Drysdale Offshore Exploration Pty Ltd Australia 100           -

Seruway Offshore Exploration Limited British Virgin Islands 100    100

South Madura Exploration Company Ltd British Virgin Islands 100    100

Rayong Offshore Exploration Limited** British Virgin Islands 100      -
		
*	 MEO International Pty Ltd was incorporated in 2011 and holds:

A 100 per cent interest in Seruway Offshore Exploration Limited which in turn holds a 100 per cent interest in the Seruway Production Sharing Contract  •	
in Indonesia. 

A 100 per cent interest in South Madura Exploration Company Ltd which in turn holds a 90 per cent interest in the South Madura Production Sharing •	
Contract in Indonesia.

A 100 per cent interest in Rayong Offshore Exploration Limited which will hold a 50 per cent interest in the Gulf of Thailand Concession G2/48.•	

**	 Rayong Offshore Exploration Limited was incorporated in 2012.

***	Innovative Energy Pty Ltd holds a 50 per cent interest in Territory Biofuels Pty Limited a company incorporated in Australia.

Note 21. Key Management Personnel
Directors

N M Heath	
J Hendrich
G A Short	
M J F Sweeney	
S W Hopley

Executives

C H Naylor	
R J D Gard
R Zammit – appointed 1 December 2011

Consultants Holding Key Management Positions 

K Hendrick – Implementation Manager 	
D Maughan – Exploration Manager

There were no other changes to the Directors and executives after the reporting date and before the date the Financial Report  
was authorised for issue.
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Compensation of Key Management Personnel by category:	

Consolidated
2012

$
2011

$

Short term employee benefits and fees 2,200,168 1,941,873

Post employment benefits 195,047 207,010

Share-based payments 423,417 490,248

Long service leave 48,436 25,960

2,867,068 2,665,091

Details of compensation of individual Key Management Personnel are set out in the Remuneration Report.

During the year fees for consulting services were paid by the Group to entities controlled by Directors as follows: 

Consulting Services
Fees Paid

Outstanding at
Balance Date

Director
2012

$
2011

$
2012

$
2011

$

G A Short 21,850 60,850 - -

S W Hopley 3,150 6,000 - -

25,000 66,850 - -

Movement in Shares

The movement during the reporting period in the number of ordinary shares in MEO Australia Limited held directly, indirectly or beneficially, 
by Key Management Personnel, including their related parties, is as follows:

30 June 2012
Held at

1 July 2011 Purchases

 Received on 
 Exercise of 

Options    Sales
Held at  

30 June 2012

Shares held in MEO Australia Limited (number)

Non-Executive Directors

N M Heath 1,035,088 197,991 - - 1,233,079

G A Short 207,444 200,000 - - 407,444

M J F Sweeney 139,984 66,146 - - 206,130

S W Hopley 70,000 30,000 - - 100,000

Executives

J Hendrich (Executive Director) 1,261,000 - - - 1,261,000

C H Naylor 490,000 - - - 490,000

R J D Gard 2,000,000 200,000 - - 2,200,000

R Zammit* - 380,000 - - 380,000

Contractors

D Maughan 317,498 - - - 317,498

K Hendrick 1,555,000 - - - 1,555,000

No shares were granted to Key Management Personnel during the reported period as compensation.

* Mr Zammit held no MEO shares at commencement of employment with MEO Australia on 1 December 2011.
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Note 21. Key Management Personnel continued

Movement in Shares continued

30 June 2011
Held at  

1 July 2010 Purchases*

Received on  
Exercise of 

Options  Sales**  
Held at  

30 June 2011

Shares held in MEO Australia Limited (number)

Non-Executive Directors

N M Heath 1,000,000 35,088 - - 1,035,088

G A Short 112,444 95,000 - - 207,444

M J F Sweeney 139,984 - - - 139,984

S W Hopley 70,000 - - - 70,000

Executives

J Hendrich (Executive Director) 1,700,000 - - (439,000) 1,261,000

C H Naylor 490,000 - - - 490,000

R J D Gard 2,200,000 - - (200,000) 2,000,000

Contractors

D Maughan 221,600 95,898 - - 317,498

K Hendrick 1,555,000 - - - 1,555,000

*	 Purchases include purchase of shares on market pursuant to Directors’ Share Savings Plan. No shares were granted to Key Management Personnel during 	
the reported period as compensation. 

**	 Includes 439,000 shares sold by entity controlled by spouse of Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer.



MEO Australia Limited Annual Report 2012 65

Options Over Equity Instruments 

The movement during the reporting period in the number of options over ordinary shares in MEO Australia Limited held, directly, indirectly 
and beneficially by Key Management Personnel, including their related parties is as follows:

Held at 
1 July 2011

Granted as 
Remuneration     

   Options 
Exercised

Options 
Lapsed 

 Held at  
30 June 2012

Vested in 
2012

Vested and 
Exercisable at  
30 June 2012

Options (number)

Non-Executive Directors

N M Heath - 900,000 - - 900,000 - -

G A Short - 900,000 - - 900,000 - -

M J Sweeney 1,000,000 900,000 - 1,000,000 900,000 - -

S W Hopley 1,000,000 900,000 - 1,000,000 900,000 - -

Executive Director  
and other executives

J Hendrich 3,100,000 3,000,000 - 3,100,000 3,000,000 - -

C H Naylor 900,000 1,000,000 - 900,000 1,000,000 - -

R J D Gard 900,000 1,000,000 - 900,000 1,000,000 - -

R Zammit - 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000 - -

Contractors

D Maughan 450,000 500,000 - 450,000 500,000 - -

K Hendrick 450,000 500,000 - 450,000 500,000 - -

Held at  
1 July 2010

Granted as 
Remuneration    

Options
Exercised

Options
Lapsed 

Held at
30 June 2011

Vested in 
2011

Vested and 
Exercisable at
30 June 2011

Options (number)

Non-Executive Directors

M J Sweeney 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 - 1,000,000

S W Hopley 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 - 1,000,000

Executive Director  
and other executives

J Hendrich 4,200,000 - - 1,100,000 3,100,000 - -

C H Naylor 900,000 - - - 900,000 450,000 900,000

R J D Gard 900,000 - - - 900,000 450,000 900,000

Contractors

D Maughan 450,000 - - - 450,000 225,000 450,000

K Hendrick 450,000 - - - 450,000 225,000 450,000
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Note 22. Share Based Payment Plans 
Senior Executives and Officers Option Plan

Share options are granted to senior executives and Non-Executive Directors. There were 15,255,000 share options granted during the 
financial year (2011: 3,600,000). Each share option is an option to acquire one ordinary share in the Company. Any new shares which  
are issued in satisfaction of options will be issued at the prevailing market price at the time of issue.

Movements in share options on issue during the year:

2012
Options

2011
Options

Outstanding at the beginning of the year 11,400,000 8,900,000

Granted during the year 15,255,000 3,600,000

Forfeited during the year (7,800,000) (1,100,000)

Exercised during the year - -

Outstanding at the end of the year 18,855,000 11,400,000
				  
In July 2011, 500,000 share options were granted to a contractor exercisable at a price of 50 cents per option on or before 1 July 2016. 
These options vest 50 per cent on 1 July 2012 and 50 per cent on 1 July 2013.

The fair value of the options at date of grant was estimated to be 7.12 cents for the options vesting on 1 July 2012 and 8.10 cents for 
options vesting on 1 July 2013. The fair value was determined using a binomial pricing model, taking into account the terms and conditions 
upon which the options were granted, and using the following inputs to the model:

Expected volatility 94%

Risk-free interest rate 4.8%

Dividend yield 0%

Contractual life 5.0 years

Early exercise multiple/estimated life for options expiring 1 July 2012  3.0 years

Early exercise multiple/estimated life for options expiring 1 July 2013  3.5 years

The total amount expensed in the year relating to these share options was $27,925. 
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In October 2011, 2,075,000 share options were granted to executives exercisable at a price of 50 cents per option on or before  
3 October 2016. These options vest 50 per cent on 3 October 2012 and 50 per cent on 3 October 2013.

The fair value of the options at date of grant was estimated to be 5.83 cents for the options vesting on 3 October 2012 and 6.68 cents  
for options vesting on 3 October 2013. The fair value was determined using a binomial pricing model, taking into account the terms  
and conditions upon which the options were granted, and using the following inputs to the model:

Expected volatility 94%

Risk-free interest rate 3.5%

Dividend yield 0%

Contractual life 5.0 years

Early exercise multiple/estimated life for options expiring 3 October 2012 3.0 years

Early exercise multiple/estimated life for options expiring 3 October 2013 3.5 years

The total amount expensed in the year relating to these share options was $71,354. 

In October 2011, 3,600,000 share options were granted to Non-Executive Directors exercisable at a price of 50 cents per option on or before 
27 October 2015. The options vest 1/3rd on 27 October 2012, 1/3rd on 27 October 2013 and 1/3rd on 27 October 2014.

The fair value of the options at date of grant was estimated to be 5.99 cents for the options vesting on 27 October 2012, 7.03 cents for the 
options vesting on 27 October 2013 and 8.0 cents for options vesting on 27 October 2014. The fair value was determined using a binomial 
pricing model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted, and using the following inputs to the model:

Expected volatility 94%

Risk-free interest rate 4.0%

Dividend yield 0%

Contractual life 4.0 years

Early exercise multiple/estimated life for options expiring 27 October 2012 2.5 years

Early exercise multiple/estimated life for options expiring 27 October 2013 3.0 years

Early exercise multiple/estimated life for options expiring 27 October 2014 3.5 years

The total amount expensed in the year relating to these share options was $97,373. 
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notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
for the year ended 30 June 2012

Note 22. Share Based Payment Plans continued

Senior Executives and Officers Option Plan continued

In October 2011, 3,000,000 share options were granted to the Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer exercisable at a price  
of 50 cents per option on or before 1 July 2016. The options vest 1/3rd on 1 July 2012, 1/3rd on 1 July 2013 and 1/3rd on 1 July 2014.

The fair value of the options at date of grant was estimated to be 7.12 cents for the options vesting on 1 July 2012, 8.10 cents for the 
options vesting on 1 July 2013 and 9.0 cents for options vesting on 1 July 2014. The fair value was determined using a binomial pricing 
model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted, and using the following inputs to the model:

Expected volatility 94%

Risk-free interest rate 4.8%

Dividend yield 0%

Contractual life 5.0 years

Early exercise multiple/estimated life for options expiring 1 July 2012 3.0 years

Early exercise multiple/estimated life for options expiring 1 July 2013 3.5 years

Early exercise multiple/estimated life for options expiring 1 July 2014 4.0 years

The total amount expensed in the year relating to these share options was $141,700. 

In December 2011, 4,580,000 share options were granted to executives and staff exercisable at a price of 50 cents per option on or before  
1 December 2016. These options vest 50 per cent on 1 December 2012 and 50 per cent on 1 December 2013.

The fair value of the options at date of grant was estimated to be 7.54 cents for the options vesting on 1 December 2012 and 8.58 cents  
for options vesting on 1 December 2013. The fair value was determined using a binomial pricing model, taking into account the terms  
and conditions upon which the options were granted, and using the following inputs to the model:

Expected volatility 94%

Risk-free interest rate 3.3%

Dividend yield 0%

Contractual life 5.0 years

Early exercise multiple/estimated life for options expiring 1 December 2012 3.0 years

Early exercise multiple/estimated life for options expiring 1 December 2013 3.5 years
			 
The total amount expensed in the year relating to these share options was $158,029. 

In April 2012, 1,500,000 share options were granted to an executive exercisable at a price of 50 cents per option on or before 3 April 2017. 
These options vest 50 per cent on 3 April 2013 and 50 per cent on 3 April 2014.

The fair value of the options at date of grant was estimated to be 18.59 cents for the options vesting on 3 April 2013 and 20.14 cents for 
options vesting on 3 April 2014. The fair value was determined using a binomial pricing model, taking into account the terms and conditions 
upon which the options were granted, and using the following inputs to the model:

Expected volatility 94%

Risk-free interest rate 3.4%

Dividend yield 0%

Contractual life (years) 5.0 years

Early exercise multiple/estimated life for options expiring 3 April 2013 3.0 years

Early exercise multiple/estimated life for options expiring 3 April 2014 3.5 years
			 
 The total amount expensed in the year relating to these share options was $53,737. 
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Note 23. Auditors’ Remuneration
Consolidated

2012
$

2011
$

Amounts received or due and receivable by Ernst & Young (Australia) for:

Audit or review of the financial reports 90,685 86,700

Non-audit services: tax advice and risk management services - 25,960

90,685 112,660

Amounts received or due and receivable by related practices of Ernst & Young (Australia) for:

Due diligence services provided by overseas Ernst & Young firm - 33,264

Agreed upon procedures for ‘Non-Income Tax Review’ and ‘Contractor to Payment Process’ 
for offshore subsidiary company 21,318 -

112,003 145,924
					   

Note 24. Interests in Jointly Controlled Assets
MEO Australia, through its wholly-owned subsidiaries, TSP Arafura Petroleum Pty Ltd and Oz-Exoil Pty Ltd, holds a 50 per cent interest  
in the NT/P68 Joint Venture. The principal activity of the Joint Venture is the exploration, development and production of hydrocarbons.

MEO Australia, through its wholly-owned subsidiary – North West Shelf Exploration Pty Ltd, holds a 62.5 per cent interest in WA-360-P  
and a 50 per cent interest in WA-361-P. The principal activity of the Joint Venture is the exploration, development and production of 
hydrocarbons. 

MEO Australia, through its wholly-owned subsidiary – South Madura Exploration Company Ltd, holds a 90 per cent interest in the  
South Madura Production Sharing Contract. The principal activity of the Joint Venture is the exploration, development and production  
of hydrocarbons. 

Commitments Related to Joint Venture Assets

Commitments relating to the Joint Venture assets are set out in Note 19 to the accounts. 

Contingent Liabilities 

As at 30 June 2012, there are no contingent liabilities relating to NT/P68, WA-361-P, WA-360-P or South Madura PSC.
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Note 25. Parent Entity Information

2012 
$

2011 
$

Information relating to MEO Australia Limited

Current assets 55,856,734 91,389,397

Total assets 200,199,917 203,405,977

Current liabilities 2,600,001 1,548,403

Total liabilities 2,800,361 1,639,177

Issued capital 238,261,144 238,261,144

Share based payments reserve 1,054,775 1,520,440

Accumulated losses (41,916,363) (38,014,784)

Total shareholders’ equity 197,399,556 201,766,800

(Loss)/profit of the parent entity (5,225,479) 6,159,301

Total comprehensive (loss)/income of the parent entity (5,225,479) 6,159,301

Details of any guarantees entered into by the parent entity in relation to the debts of its subsidiaries n/a n/a

Details of any contingent liabilities of the parent entity n/a n/a

Details of any contractual commitments by the parent entity for the acquisition of property, plant or equipment n/a n/a

Note 26. Events Subsequent to Balance Date
There has not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this report any item, transaction or event of  
a material and unusual nature likely, in the opinion of the Directors of the Company, to affect significantly the operations of the Group,  
the results of those operations, or state of affairs of the Group, in future financial years.

notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
for the year ended 30 June 2012
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directors’ declaration

In accordance with a resolution of the Directors of MEO Australia Limited, I state that:

1. In the opinion of the Directors:

(a) The financial statements and notes of MEO Australia Limited for the financial year ending 30 June 2012 are in accordance with 
the Corporations Act 2001, including:

(i) Giving a true and fair view of the Company’s and the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2012.

(ii) Complying with Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and Corporations Regulations 2001.

(b) The financial statements and notes also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in Note 1(b).

(c) There are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable.

2. This declaration has been made after receiving the declarations required to be made to the Directors in accordance with Section 295A 
of the Corporations Act 2001 for the financial year ended 30 June 2012.

On behalf of the Board

J Hendrich
Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer	
Melbourne, 7th September 2012
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independent auditor’s report
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(a) Distribution of Equity Securities
(i) Ordinary Share Capital 

539,913,260 fully paid ordinary shares are held by 9,506 individual shareholders.

All issued ordinary shares carry one vote per share and carry rights to dividends. On a show of hands, every member at a meeting  
of shareholders shall have one vote and upon a poll each share shall have one vote.

(ii) Unquoted Options on Issue

18,855,000 options are held by 20 individual option holders.

There are no voting rights attached to these options.

The number of shareholders, by size of holding and the total number of shares on issue:

Ordinary Shares No. of Holders No. of Shares

1 – 1,000 471 172,114

1,001 – 5,000 1,932 6,902,398

5,001 – 10,000 2,118 17,399,635

10,001 – 100,000 4,257 149,559,648

100,001 and over 728 365,879,465

Total on issue 9,506 539,913,260

839 holders holding 813,152 shares held less than a marketable parcel of ordinary shares. There is no current on-market buy-back.

(b) Substantial Shareholder
The Company has one Substantial Shareholder as at 25 September – Raydale Holdings Pty Ltd and associated entity Glenstar Pty Ltd  
with a combined holding of 39,755,000 shares representing 7.36 per cent of total ordinary issued shares.

shareholder and other information
compiled as at 25 September 2012



MEO Australia Limited Annual Report 2012 75

(c) 20 Largest Holders of Ordinary Shares 

Holder
Ordinary 

Shares
% of Total 

on Issue

Raydale Holdings Pty Ltd 37,400,000 6.93%

HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited 26,582,628 4.92%

Merrill Lynch (Australia) Nominees Pty Limited 12,530,891 2.32%

Bentley Capital Limited 11,422,168 2.12%

National Nominees Limited 7,759,430 1.44%

Mr. Mark Jeffrey Hanrahan 7,000,000 1.30%

J P Morgan Nominees Australia Limited 5,706,439 1.06%

ABN AMRO Clearing Sydney Nominees Pty Ltd 5,064,024 0.94%

CS Fourth Nominees Pty Ltd 4,566,800 0.85%

Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited 3,603,164 0.67%

Mr Maxwell Thomas Quirk 3,500,000 0.65%

Aurisch Investments Pty Ltd 3,000,000 0.56%

Mrs Melanie Maree Herpen 3,000,000 0.56%

JP Morgan Nominees Australia Limited (Cash Income A/C) 2,996,827 0.56%

Buttonwood Nominees Pty Ltd 2,993,840 0.55%

Comsec Nominees Pty Limited 2,978,474 0.55%

Mr Colin Charles MacKinnon 2,922,618 0.54%

Bourse Securities Pty Ltd 2,823,750 0.52%

Alrene Pty Ltd 2,800,000 0.52%

E & P Investments Australia Pty Ltd 2,694,308 0.50%

The 20 largest shareholders hold 151,345,361 shares representing 28.03 per cent of the shares on issue.
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